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TENNANT COMPANY
2013
ANNUAL REPORT

Form 10K
(Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act of 1934)

PART I

ITEM 1 — Business

General Development of Business

Tennant Company, a Minnesota corporation that wasded in 187
and incorporated in 1909, is a world leader in gigisig, manufacturing ai
marketing solutions that help create a cleanerrsdfealthier world. Tt
Company'’s floor maintenance and outdoor cleaningpegent, chemicalree
and other sustainable cleaning technologies, agmtamd related products
used to clean and coat surfaces in factories, gratetion facilities, publi
venues, warehouses, retail, education, healthotfiee buildings, parking lo
and streets, and other environments. Customersidecbuilding servic
contract cleaners to whom organizations outsouacéditfes maintenance,
well as endiser businesses, healthcare facilities, schooldauad, state ar
federal governments that handle facilities mainteea themselves. T
Company reaches these customers through the igthustirgest direct sal
and service organization and through a strong aslttsupported network
authorized distributors worldwide.

Segment and Geographic Area Financial Information

The Company has one reportable business segmdast t®acustome
geographically located in the United States wer@2$8l million, $406.
million and $392.5 million for the years ended Dmber 31, 2013 , 2012nc
2011 , respectively. Lonlived assets located in the United States were7.
million and $74.0 million as of the years ended &eber 31, 2013 and 2012
respectively. Additional financial information ohet Companys segment ar
geographic areas is provided throughout Item 8 &mte 17 of th
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Principal Products, Markets and Distribution

The Company offers products and solutions mainlysigting o
mechanized cleaning equipment targeted at manufagtuwarehouse al
logistics, transportation facilities, public venpesetail, healthcare a
education markets; parts, consumables and servaiatenance and rep:
business solutions such as rental and leasing qrogr and sustainal
cleaning technologies that reduce the need for @adsnin the cleanir
process. Adjacent products include surface coatary$ floor preservatic
products. The Comparg/’suite of offerings are marketed and sold unde
following brands: Tennant®, Nobles®Green Machines™, Alfa Un
Empresa Tennant™ and Orbio®he Orbio brand of products and solutior
developed and managed by Orbio Technologies, ggrmated by Tennant
focus on expanding the opportunities for wdiased sustainable technoloy
such as ec-H20™ and Orbio 5000-Sc. Tennant Compgmgducts are sc
through direct and distribution channels in varioegions around the wor
In North America, Brazil, Australia, China and mast Western Europ
products are sold through a direct sales orgaoizagnd independe
distributors. In more than 80 other countries, @@mpany relies on a bro
network of independent distributors.

Raw Materials

The Company has not experienced any significanhosual problems
the availability of raw materials or other prodecimponents. The Compe
has solesource vendors for certain components. A disrupitiosupply fron
such vendors may disrupt the Compangperations. However, the Comp
believes that it can find alternate sources inghent there is a disruption
supply from such vendors.

Intellectual Property

Although the Company considers that its patentsppnietar
technologies, customer relationships, licensesletraarks, trade names
brand names in the aggregate constitute a valwesisiet, it does not regard
business as being materially dependent upon agiesintellectual property.

Seasonality

Although the Companyg’ business is not seasonal in the traditional g
the percentage of revenues in each quarter typicatiges from 22% to 28
of the total year. The first quarter tends to beh&t low end of the ran
reflecting customers'initial slow ramp up of capital purchases and
Companys efforts to close out orders at the end of eaeln. yghe second a
fourth quarters tend to be towards the high endhefrange and the th
quarter is typically in the middle of the range.

Working Capital

The Company funds operations through a combinaiforash and ca:
equivalents and cash flows from operations. Wherepessible, cas
management is centralized and intercompany fingn@nused to provic
working capital to subsidiaries as needed. In amlditcredit facilities ar
available for additional working capital needsmrdstment opportunities.

Major Customers
The Company sells its products to a wide varietgugtomers, none
which is of material importance in relation to thesiness as a whole. 1

customer base includes several governmental entitieich generally ha
terms similar to other customers.

Backlog

The Company processes orders within two weeks erage. Therefor
no significant backlogs existed at December 31320dd 2012 .
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Competition

While there is no publicly available industry datancerning marke
share, the Company believes, through its own mamkstarch, that it is
world-leading manufacturer of floor maintenance and étgarequipment
Significant competitors exist in all key geographegions. However, the ke
competitors vary by region. The Company competanasily on the basis ¢
offering a broad line of higlquality, innovative products supported by
extensive sales and service network in major market

Certain of the Compang’ competitors initiated legal and/or regulat
challenges in 2010 and 2011 in multiple jurisdieticchallenging Tennarst’
advertising claims pertaining to its ec-H20 waiased technology. Tt
majority of these claims have been closed with ratemal impact to th
Company. The Company does not currently view thstanding proceeding
as material and does not expect the outcome to &amaterial adverse effe
on the Company's operating results, financial domdor cash flows.

Research and Development

The Company strives to be an industry leader imvation and i
committed to investing in research and developmEme Companys Global
Innovation Center in Minnesota and engineers thnougthe global locatior
are dedicated to various activities including resieiag new technologies
create meaningful product differentiation, develept of new product:
improvements of existing product design or manufidcty processes at
exploring new product applications with customéns2013 , 2012 and 2011
the Company spent $30.5 million , $29.3 million &&7Y.9 millionon researc
and development, respectively.

Environmental Compliance

Compliance with Federal, State and local provisiaiiech have bee
enacted or adopted regulating the discharge ofrialsténto the environmen
or otherwise relating to the protection of the eowiment, has not had, and
Company does not expect it to have, a materiacefipon the Company’
capital expenditures, earnings or competitive pasit

Employees

The Company employed 2,931 people in worldwide agpans as o
December 31, 2013 .

Available Information

The Company makes available free of charge, thrahghCompanys
website at www.tennantco.com, its annual reportFonm 10K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Fori &d amendments to thc
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 1®@15(d) of the Exchanc
Act as soon as reasonably practicable when sucherimlatis filed
electronically with, or furnished to, the Secustiand Exchange Commissi
(“SEC").

ITEM 1A — Risk Factors

The following are significant factors known to Ut could materiall:
adversely affect our business, financial condibowperating results.

We may encounter financial difficulties if the United States or other
global economies experience an additional or continued significant long-
term economic downturn, decreasing the demand for our products.

Our product sales are sensitive to declines intahppending by ot
customers. Decreased demand for our products caddlt in decrease
revenues, profitability and cash flows and may impar ability to maintair
our operations and fund our obligations to othkrghe event of a continue
significant longterm economic downturn in the U.S. or other glc

We are subject to competitive risks associated with developing
innovative products and technologies, including but not limited to, the risk
that customers do not continue to pay for innovation and the risk of
competitive challenges to our products and technology and the underlying
intellectual property.

Our products are sold in competitive markets thhmug the world
Competition is based on product features and dedigand recognitior
reliability, durability, technology, breadth of mhact offerings, price, custom
relationships and aftesale service. Although we believe that the perfome
and price characteristics of our products will progl competitive solutions fi
our customersheeds, because of our dedication to innovationcamtinuec
investments in research and development, our ptsdyenerally cost mol
than our competitorsproducts. We believe that customers will pay foe
innovations and quality in our products; however thie current econom
environment, it may be difficult for us to competéh lower cost product
offered by our competitors and there can be norassa that our custome
will continue to choose our products over produgfsred by our competitor
If our products, markets and services are not cdithss we may experience
decline in sales, pricing and market share, whitveesely impacts revenue
margin and the success of our operations.

In addition, we may be vulnerable to competitorsowattempt tc
challenge our technology and our products or dighirthe reputation of ot
brand, all of which could adversely affect our Imesis. Certain of ol
competitors have previously initiated legal andutatpry actions against 1
and while we do not view these challenges to beerizt defense of suc
claims may require substantial commitment of tinmel anoney and coul
potentially influence new customers from readilgemting our products, su
as those with our ed20 technology, which could adversely affect
business.

Competitors may also initiate litigation to chalienthe validity of ou
patents or claims, allege that we infringe uporirthatents, violate our pater
or they may use their resources to design comparptducts that avo
infringing our patents. Regardless of whether dificfation is successful, suc
litigation could significantly increase our costadadivert managemerst’
attention from the operation of our business, whtchld adversely affect ol
results of operations and financial condition.

Our ability to effectively operate our Company could be adversely
affected if we are unable to attract and retain key personnel and other highly
skilled employees.

Our continued success will depend on, among ottiegs, the skills an
services of our executive officers and other keyspenel. Our ability t
attract and retain other highly qualified manadetichnical, manufacturin
research, sales and marketing personnel also ismpactability to effectivel
operate our business. As the economy recovers antpanies grow an
increase their hiring activities, there is an immarrisk of increased employ
turnover and the loss of valuable employees in pesitions, especially i
emerging markets throughout the world. We belideeihcreased loss of ki
personnel within a concentrated region could adgraffect our sale
growth.



economies, our revenues could decline to the gbhattwe may have
take costsaving measures to reduce our fixed costs to d thae is in line
with a lower level of sales in order to stay inibess longerm in a depress
economic environment.
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We may not be able to upgrade and evolve our information technology
systems as quickly as we wish and we may encounter difficulties as we
upgrade and evolve these systems, which could adversely impact our abilities
to accomplish anticipated future cost savings, better serve our customers and
protect against information system disruption, corruption or intrusions.

We have many information technology systems thatimportant to th:
operation of our business and we have many infoomaechnology syster
that are in need of upgrading. We may not have wategesources to upgrz
our systems at the pace which the current busieasgonment demand
Inability to upgrade systems on a timely basis @aduakrease our risk of
cybersecurity incident which could lead to intetiaps, delays or cessation
systems, misappropriation of confidential inforroatiand corruption of dat
Additionally, significantly upgrading and evolvinthe capabilities of ot
existing systems could lead to inefficient or imetfve use of our technoloy
due to lack of training or expertise in these eiwmvtechnology system
These factors could lead to significant expensesgem@ely impacting ot
results of operations and hinder our ability toeoffetter technology solutio
to our customers.

We may not be able to effectively manage organizational changes which
could negatively impact our operating results or financial condition.

We are continuing to implement global standardipedcesses in ot
business despite lean staffing levels. We contiowmnsolidate and realloce
resources as part of our ongoing efforts to opnomr cost structure in tl
current economy. Our operating results may be negatimpacted if we ar
unable to implement new processes and manage eoagi@mal changes. |
addition, if we do not effectively manage the implntation of new process
and organizational changes, we may not fully realie anticipated savings
these actions or they may negatively impact ouitghid serve our custome
or meet our strategic objectives.

Inadequate or improper funding of new technologies may result in an
inability to develop and commercialize new innovative products and services.

We strive to develop new and innovative productsl @ervices t
differentiate ourselves in the marketplace. Newdpobd development relie
heavily on our financial and resource investmentbadth the short term ai
long term. If we fail to adequately fund productd®pment projects or fur
a project which ultimately does not gain the madateptance we anticipate
we risk not meeting our customers' expectationsichvitould result ir
decreased revenues, declines in margin and lassudfet share.

Our global operations are subject to laws and regulations that impose
significant compliance costs and create reputational and legal risk.

Due to the international scope of our operations, ave subject to
complex system of commercial, tax and trade reguiataround the worlc
Recent years have seen an increase in the devetbamd enforcement
laws regarding trade, tax compliance and aatruption such as the U.
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar laws frather countries. Ot
numerous foreign subsidiaries and affiliates areegued by laws, rules ai
business practices that differ from those of th®.but because we are a L
based company oftentimes they are also subject3olalws, which can crea
a conflict. Despite our due diligence, it is possithat the activities of the:
entities may not comply with U.S. laws or businpssctices or our Busine
Ethics Guide. Violations of the U.S. or local lamay result in severe crimin
or civil sanctions, could disrupt our business, egxlilt in an adverse effect
our reputation, business and results of operatnnancial condition. Wi
cannot predict the nature, scope or effect of futegulatory requirements
which our operations might be subject or the manmevhich existing law:
might be administered or interpreted.

Increases in the cost, or disruption in the availability, of raw materials
and components that we purchase could negatively impact our operating
results or financial condition.

Our expanding geographical footprint and our cargth use of sol
source vendors coupled with suppligpstential credit issues could lead to
increased risk of a brealewn in our supply chain. Purchased compo
parts are essential to our products and any deifecsch parts could lead
quality issues, returns, production slaewns or product liability risk
Modularization may lead to more sole sourced prtxland as we seek
outsource the design of certain key componentsriskeloss of proprietar
control and become more reliant on a sole sourke.riBk also exists that v
will not be able to obtain adequate informationnfreuppliers in order t
comply with global disclosure requirements.

The SEC has adopted rules, with which we are reduio comply
regarding the disclosure of the use of “conflicherals” commonly referre:
to as tin, tantalum, tungsten and gold) which ameeoh from the Democrat
Republic of the Congo in products we manufactureomtract to manufactur
These minerals are present in a number of the Coytgpaproducts. Th
discover and disclosure obligations are complex] #rere is little forma
guidance with respect to their application. Sinae supply chain is comple
ultimately we may not be able to sufficiently digeothe origin of the conflic
minerals used in our products through the due @hlog procedures that \
implement, which may impact our ability to file anely and/or accurai
report with the SEC subjecting us to potential SERforcement risks
Additionally, if we are unable to or chose not &ty that our products al
conflict mineral free, customers may choose noptochase our product
Alternatively, if we chose to use only suppliereohg conflict free minerals
we cannot be sure that we will be able to obtaitaieeif necessary, frol
such suppliers in sufficient quantities or at cotitppe prices. Any one or
combination of these various factors could harm lmusiness, reduce mart
demand for our products, and adversely affect oafitpmargins, net sale
and overall financial results.

We are subject to product liability claims and product quality issues that
could adversely affect our operating results or financial condition.

Our business exposes us to potential product iiabilsks that are
inherent in the design, manufacturing and distrdsutof our products. |
products are used incorrectly by our customersirynjnay result leading 1
product liability claims against us. Some of ouroducts or produc
improvements may have defects or risks that we maieyet identified the
may give rise to product quality issues, liabiléyd warranty claims.
product liability claims are brought against us f@mages that are in exct
of our insurance coverage or for uninsured ligbgitand it is determined v
are liable, our business could be adversely impacday losses we sufft
from any liability claims, and the effect that apyoduct liability litigation
may have upon the reputation and marketability wf groducts, may have
negative impact on our business and operatingtsedie could experience
material design or manufacturing failure in our guots, a quality syste
failure, other safety issues, or heightened regolatscrutiny that coul
warrant a recall of some of our products. Any uesaen product quali
problems could result in loss of market share, cedusales, and high
warranty expense.
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We may be unable to conduct business if we experience a significant
business interruption in our computer systems, manufacturing plants or
distribution facilities for a significant period of time.

We rely on our computer systems, manufacturingtpland distributiol
facilities to efficiently operate our businesswié experience an interruption
the functionality in any of these items for a sfgrant period of time, we me
not have adequate business continuity planningrogercies in place to allo
us to continue our normal business operationslongterm basis. Significar
longterm interruption in our business could cause dimkedn sales, a
increase in expenses and could adversely impaaipamting results.

ITEM 1B — Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 2 — Properties

The Companys corporate offices are owned by the Company as
located in the Minneapolis, Minnesota, metropolitarea. Manufacturin
facilities are located in Minneapolis, Minnesota;olldnd, Michigan
Louisville, Kentucky; Uden, The Netherlands; FatkitJnited Kingdom; S&
Paulo, Brazil; and Shanghai, China. Sales officearehouse and stora
facilities are leased in various locations in NoAmerica, Europe, Japa
China, Asia, Australia, New Zealand and Latin Aroari The Companyg’
facilities are in good operating condition, suitabdr their respective uses &
adequate for current needs. Further informatiorangigg the Compang’
property and lease commitments is included in tloat@ctual Obligation
section of Item 7 and in Note 13 of the Consolidd&@ancial Statements.

ITEM 3 — Legal Proceedings

There are no material pending legal proceedinggrothan ordinar
routine litigation incidental to the Company’s ess.

ITEM 4 — Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il
ITEM 5 — Market for Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and suer Purchases of Equity Securitie

MARKET INFORMATION —Tennant's common stock is traded on the New YooklSExchange, under the ticker symbol TNC. As ofuday 31, 201-
there were 412 shareholders of record. The comnuah price was $64.13 per share on January 31,.Z8&4ccompanying chart shows the high and lows
prices for the Company’s shares for each full aririperiod over the past two years as reportethbyNew York Stock Exchange:

2013 2012
High Low High Low
First $ 49.8: $ 4407 $ 44.0C $ 37.7%
Second 51.62 44 .5( 48.4¢ 37.82
Third 62.5( 49.6¢ 44.2¢ 36.1¢
Fourth 68.7( 58.0¢ 43.9¢ 35.3(

DIVIDEND INFORMATION — Cash dividends on Tennantemmon stock have been paid for 69 consecutivesy§@nnans annual cash divide
payout increased for the 42consecutive year to $0.72 per share in 2013, arase of $0.03 per share over 2012. Dividends energlly declared ea
quarter. On February 19, 2014, the Company annauacguarterly cash dividend of $0.18 per share lgay®larch 17, 2014, to shareholders of recor
March 3, 2014.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT OR DIRECT DEPOSIT OPTIONS Shareholders have the option of reinvesting qusrtividends in additional shar
of Company stock or having dividends depositedatlydo a bank account. The Transfer Agent shoelddntacted for additional information.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR — Shareholders witbrenge of address or questions about their acecoaptcontact:

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
Shareowner Services
P.O. Box 64874

St. Paul, MN 55164-0854
(800) 468-9716

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION - Informatiomegarding equity compensation plans required byuRgign SK Item 201(d) i
incorporated by reference in Item 12 of this anmapbrt on Form 10-K from the 2014 Proxy Statement.

SHARE REPURCHASES ©n April 25, 2012, the Board of Directors authodzée repurchase of 1,000,000 shares of our constamk. This was i
addition to the 618,050 shares remaining undeccotrent repurchase program at that time. Shareckpses are made from time to time in the open enan
through privately negotiated transactions, prinyardl offset the dilutive effect of shares issuerbtiygh our sharased compensation programs. Our ¢
agreements and Private Shelf Agreement restricpdlyenent of dividends or repurchasing of stoclfifer giving effect to such payments, our leveragm i<
greater than 2.00 to 1, in such case limiting quyments to an amount ranging from $50.0 millio876.0 million during any fiscal year.

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of

Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet Be
For the Quarter Ended Total Number of Shares Average Price Paid Per Publicly Announced Plans Purchased Under the Plans
December 31, 2013 Purchased @ Share or Programs or Programs
October 1-31, 2013 15,77¢  $ 60.4- 15,681 706,45(
November 1-30, 2013 75,84 60.0¢ 75,84 630,60:
December 1-31, 2013 — — — 630,60
Total 91,628 % 60.1¢ 91,53« 630,60:

(1) Includes 91shares delivered or attested to in satisfactiothefexercise price and/or tax withholding obligatidoy employees who exercised s
options or restricted stock under employee shasedaompensation plans.
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH — The following graph comgsathe cumulative total shareholder return on @atiem common stock to two indict
S&P SmallCap 600 and Morningstar Industrials Sectbe graph below compares the performance fotasiefive fiscal years, assuming an investmel
$100 on December 31, 2008, including the reinvestrokall dividends.

5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN COMPARISON

600.00

500.00 /

400.00

300.00 /—OF_///
200.00 /ﬂ

100.00
UUU ! I L Il ! !
2008 2009 2010 201 2012 2013
—C—Tennant Company —{+S&P Smallcap 600 Index =——NMormingstar Industrials Sector

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Tennant Company $100 $175 $262 $269 $310 $484
S&P SmallCap 600 $100 $126 $159 $160 $186 $263
Morningstar Industrials Sector $100 $124 $154 $153 $176 $250
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ITEM 6 — Selected Financial Data
(In thousands, except shares and per share data)

Years Ended December 31 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Financial Results:
Net Sales $ 752,01: $ 738,98( $ 753,99¢ $ 667,66 $ 595,87!
Cost of Sales 426,10: 413,68: 434,81 (3 383,34. @ 349,76
Gross Margin - % 43.2 44.C 42.3 42.¢€ 41.2
Research and Development Expense 30,52¢ 29,26: 27,91 25,957 22,97¢
% of Net Sales 4.1 4.C 3.7 3.6 3.9
Selling and Administrative Expense 232,97¢ (@ 234,11: @ 241,628 © 221,23t @ 24562. ©
% of Net Sales 31.C 31.7 32.C 33.1 41.2
Gain on Sale of Business — (789 ©@ — — —

% of Net Sales — (0.2) — — —
Profit (Loss) from Operations 62,40: D 62,70: @ 49,64t © 37,13 @ (22,499 ©
% of Net Sales 8.3 8.5 6.€ 5.€ (3.9

Total Other Expense, Net (2,525 (2,817 (915 (2,407 (1,827
Profit (Loss) Before Income Taxes 59,87¢ D 59,89( @ 48,73( ©® 34,727 @4 (24,320 ©
% of Net Sales 8.C 8.1 6.5 5.2 (4.7
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) 19,647 @ 18,30¢ @ 16,017 ©® (76) @ 1,921 ©
Effective Tax Rate - % 32.¢ 30.€ 32.¢ 0.2 7.8
Net Earnings (Loss) 40,23: @ 41,58: @ 32,711 ©® 34,80: @ (26,24 ©
% of Net Sales 5.2 5.€ 4.2 5.2 (4.9)

Per Share Data:

Basic Net Earnings (Loss) $ 22 O g 224 @ g 172 G ¢ 1.88 @ g (1.42 ®
Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) $ 214 O g 218 @ g 1.6¢ @ 3 1.8 @ 3 142 ©
Diluted Weighted Average Shares 18,833,45 19,102,01 19,360,42 19,332,10 18,507,77
Cash Dividends $ 0.7z $ 0.6¢ $ 0.6¢ $ 0.5¢ $ 0.52
Financial Position:

Total Assets $ 456,30t $ 420,76( $ 424,26 $ 403,66¢ $ 377,72¢
Total Debt 31,80: 32,32¢ 36,45¢ 30,82¢ 34,21
Total Shareholders’ Equity 263,84t 235,05¢ 220,85: 216,13 184,27¢
Current Ratio 2.4 2.2 2.2 2.1 1.6
Debt-to-Capital Ratio 10.8% 12.1% 14.2% 12.5% 15.7%
Cash Flows:

Net Cash Provided by Operations ~ $ 59,81 $ 47 ,56¢ $ 56,90¢ $ 42 53( $ 75,18t
Capital Expenditures, Net of Disposals (14,659 (14,59 (13,309 (9,939 (12,179
Free Cash Flow 45,15¢ 32,97 43,60¢ 32,59¢ 64,01%
Other Data:

Depreciation and Amortization $ 20,24¢ $ 20,87: $ 21,41¢ $ 21,19: $ 22,80:
Number of employees at year-end 2,931 2,81¢ 2,86t 2,79: 2,78¢

The results of operations from our 2011 and 2008uiasicions have been included in the Consolidatethricial Statements, as well as the Sele
Financial Data presented above, since each of thgpective dates.

(1) 2013 includes restructuring charges of $3,0E7tax ($2,938 aftetax or $0.15 per diluted share) and a tax benéf82 (or $0.03 per diluted sha
related to the retroactive reinstatement of the2201S. Federal Research and Development ("R&D") Ceedit.

(2) 2012 includes a gain on sale of business ofi$#8-tax ($508 after-tax or $0.03 per diluted shaa restructuring charge of $760 pre-tax ($61éraf
tax or $0.04 per diluted share) and tax benefitmfan international entity restructuring of $2,qd8%$0.11 per diluted share).

(3) 2011 includes a Product Line Obsolescence ehafg$4,300 pre-tax ($3,811 afterx or $0.20 per diluted share) and an internatiexacutive
severance charge of $1,217 (or $0.06 per dilutace3h
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(4) 2010 includes a tax benefit from the internaaioentity restructuring of $10,913 (or $0.56 péutdd share), a workforce redeployment charc
$1,671 pre-tax ($1,196 aftéax or $0.06 per diluted share), inventory revatmfrom change in functional currency designatibre to international enti
restructuring of $647 pre-tax ($453 after-tax oi0®0per diluted share) and a revision of our 2008«rce reduction reserve of $277 pre-tax ($178raéx ol

$0.01 per diluted share).

(5) 2009 includes a goodwill impairment charge 48863 pre-tax ($42,289 afteax or $2.29 per diluted share), a benefit fronexdsion during the fir:
quarter of 2009 to the 2008 workforce reductionrgheof $1,328 pre-tax ($1,249 aftex or $0.07 per diluted share) and a net tax liemefmarily from ¢
United Kingdom business reorganization, of $1,8§4$0.10 per diluted share).

ITEM 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

Tennant Company is a world leader in designing, ufeturing an
marketing solutions that help create a cleanerrsdfealthier world. O1
products include equipment for maintaining surfaoeisdustrial, commerci
and outdoor environments; chemifade and other sustainable clear
technologies; and coatings for protecting, repgiamd upgrading floors a
other surfaces. We sell our products through ouectlisales and servi
organization and a network of authorized distribsitoworldwide
Geographically, our customers are located in Nétferica, Latin Americ:
Europe, the Middle East, Africa and Asia Pacifice Wrive to be an innova
in our industry through our commitment to underdtag our customers’
needs and using our expertise to create innovptivaucts and solutions.

Net Sales in 2013 totaled $752.0 million , up fr§@&89.0 millionin the
prior year primarily due to increased sales of Btdal equipment and hi
demand for newly introduced products which were eshat offset by lowe
sales of city cleaning equipment. 20@8janic sales growth, excluding
impact of foreign currency exchange, was up appnaiely 2.8% with growt
in North America, Latin America and Asia Pacificitig somewhat offset |
declines in Europe due to challenging economic itimmg. 2013Gross Profi
margin decreased 70 basis points to 43.3% from244n2012due to change
in selling channel mix and mix of products soldlliSg and Administrativ
Expense (“S&A Expense”) decreased 0.5% , obd€is points as a percent
of Net Sales, from $234.1 million in 2012 to $238ndlion in 2013 due tc
continued tight cost controls and improved opetptiaverage. Operatil
Profit decreased 0.5% and Operating Profit margitlided 20basis points 1
8.3% in 2013 from 8.5% in 201de to two restructuring charges taken dt
2013 totaling $3.0 million and increased investmenR&D activities. Ne
Earnings for 2013vere favorably impacted by a tax benefit of $0.6liom
related to the 2012 R&D tax credit which was rettoeely enacted in Janue
of 2013.

Net Earnings for 2012 were $8.9 million greatemtl2811 despite a N
Sales decline of 2.0%. 2012 Gross Profit margimeiased 170 basis points
44.0% from 42.3% in 2011 due to favorable produtt, etable commodi
costs and production efficiencies. Net Sales in22@italed $739.0 milliol
which was down from $754.0 million in the prior ygaimarily due to lowe
sales unit volume in Europe stemming from weak enun conditions. 201
organic sales growth, excluding the impact of fonmecurrency exchange, w
essentially flat with growth in the Americas andezging markets being offe
by declines in the mature international markets.ASExpense decreas
3.1%, or 30 basis points as a percentage of NesSaibm $241.6 million i
2011 to $234.1 million in 2012 due to continuedhtigost controls ar
improved operating leverage. Operating Profit insezl 26.3% and Operat
Profit margin improved 190 basis points to 8.5%2@12 from 6.6% in 201
due to higher Gross Profits and improved operdgrngrage. Net Earnings 1
2012 were also favorably impacted by a $2.0 milliam benefit from a
international entity restructuring.

Tennant continues to invest in innovative prodwstedopment withl. 1%
of 2013 Net Sales spent on R&D. During 201ii%re were increas
investments in developing innovative new produats dur traditional cot
business, as well as our Orbio business.

We ended 2013 with a Debt-to-Capital ratio of 10.8%81.0 millionin
Cash and Cash Equivalents compared to $53.9 mélidhe end of 2012anc
Shareholders’ Equity of $263.8 million . During 20lwe generated operati
cash flows of $59.8 million . Total debt was $3tn#Blion as ofDecember 3:
2013 compared to $32.3 million at the end of 2012 .

Historical Results
The following table compares the historical resoltoperations for tt

years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 20ddllars and as a percent.
of Net Sales (in thousands, except per share amamat percentages):

2013 % 2012 % 2011 %
Net Sales $ 752,01: 100.C $ 738,98( 100.C $ 753,99¢ 100.C
Cost of Sales 426,10: 56.7 413,68¢ 56.C 434,81 57.7
Gross Profit 325,90¢ 43.: 325,29t 44 319,18: 42
Operating Expense:
Research and
Development Expens 30,52¢ 4.1 29,26 4.0 27,91 3.7
Selling and
Administrative
Expense 232,97t 31.C 234,11« 31.7 241,62! 32.C
Gain on Sale of
Business — — (784 (0.2 — —
Total Operating
Expenses 263,50! 35.C 262,59¢ 35.E 269,53t 35.7
Profit from Operations 62,40! 8.3 62,70! 8.5 49,64¢ 6.6
Other Income (Expense):
Interest Income 39C 0.1 1,06¢ 0.1 752 0.1
Interest Expense (1,767) (0.2 (2,51%) 0.3 (2,23¢) 0.3
Net Foreign Currency
Transaction (Losses)
Gains (679) (0.2) (1,409 0.2) 55¢ 0.1
Other (Expense)
Income, Net (489) (0.3 38 — 12 —
Total Other
Expense, Net (2,52%) 0.3 (2,819 (0.9 (915) (0.3
Profit Before Income
Taxes 59,87¢ 8.0 59,89( 8.1 48,73( 6.5
Income Tax Expense 19,647 2.6 18,30¢ 2.5 16,017 2.1
Net Earnings $ 40,23: 53 $ 41,58 56 $ 32,71t 4.3
Net Earnings per Dilutec
Share 2.14 $ 2.1¢ $ 1.6¢
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Consolidated Financial Results

Net Earnings for 2013 were $40.2 million , or $2ger diluted shar
compared to $41.6 million , or $2.18 per dilutedrghfor 2012 Net Earning
were impacted by:

« Anincrease in Net Sales of 1.8% , primadlye to increased sales
industrial equipment antdigh demand for newly introduced prodt
which were somewhat offset by lower sales of citganing
equipment.

e A 70 basis point decrease in Gross Profit margin duehenges i
selling channel mix and mix of products sold.

* A decrease in S&A Expense as a percentage ofSHlets of 7Masit
points due to continued tight cost controls androwpd operatin
efficiencies.

e Two restructuring actions totaling $3.0 milligpretax) during 201
or 40 basis points as a percentage of Net Sales.

e A $0.6 million tax benefit related to the 2012 R&&Xx credit whicl
was retroactively enacted in January 2013.

Net Earnings for 2012 were $41.6 million , or $2{d& diluted shar
compared to $32.7 million , or $1.69 per dilutedrghfor 2011 Net Earning
were impacted by:

e A decrease in Net Sales of 2.0%, primarily dueawdr sales ur
volume in Europe stemming from weak economic caolt

e A 170 basis point increase in Gross Profit margire do favorabl
product mix, stable commodity costs and productfiitciencies.

* A decrease in S&A Expense as a percentage of Nes 830 bas
points due to continued tight cost controls androwpd operatin
efficiencies.

e A tax benefit from an international entity resturitg contribute
$0.11 per diluted share.

Net Sales
In 2013 , consolidated Net Sales were $752.0 milli@n increase

1.8% as compared to 2012 . Consolidated Net Sagge #739.0 millionin
2012, a decrease of 2.0% as compared to 2011 .

The components of the consolidated Net Sales chdoge2013 as
compared to 2012 , and 2012 as compared to 20¢ie, &g follows:

Growth Elements 2013 v. 2012 2012 v. 2011
Organic Growth:

Volume 1.8% (1.0%)
Price 1.0% 1.0%
Organic Growth 2.8% 0%
Foreign Currency (1.0%) (2.0%)
Total 1.8% (2.0%)

The 1.8% increase in consolidated Net Sales for3 26l compared
2012 was primarily due to sales volume increases dumdreased sales
industrial equipment and demand for newly introdLpeoducts.

The following table sets forth annual Net Salespgrating segment a
the related percentage change from the prior yearthousands, exce
percentages):

2013 % 2012 % 2011
Americas $ 514,54« 4.7 $ 491,66: 2.1 $ 481,42
Europe, Middle East and
Africa 157,20¢ (5.9 166,20t  (11.f) 188,33t
Asia Pacific 80,25¢ (1.9 81,11: 3.7 84,23«
Total $ 752,01: 1€ $ 738,98 (2.0 $ 753,99

Americas — In 2013 , Americas Net Sales increased 4.7%5b4.t
million as compared with $491.7 million in 201Zhe primary driver of tr
increase in Net Sales was attributable to highlsssaf equipment in Nor
America, including scrubbers equipped with H20 technology ar
sweepers, and continued growth in Latin AmericafaMorable direct foreic
currency translation exchange effects decreasedSHlets by approximate
1.0%.

In 2012, Americas Net Sales increased 2.1% to $49iillion as
compared with $481.4 million in 2011. The primamvdr of the increase
Net Sales was attributable to sales unit volumeemes with higher sales
strategic accounts, continued growth of scrubbgtspped with our e¢i20
technology and doubleigit growth in Latin America. Unfavorable dir
foreign currency translation exchange effects demd Net Sales
approximately 1.0%.

Europe, Middle East and Africa — Europe, Middle East and Afri
(“EMEA") Net Sales in 2013 decreased 5.4% to $15¥ilion as compare
to 2012 Net Sales of $166.2 million An organic sales decrease
approximately 7.4% was primarily due to decreasesales of city cleanir
equipment due to tight municipal spending in Europemewhat offset t
increased sales to strategic accounts. Favorabrectdforeign currenc
exchange effects increased EMEA Net Sales by appet&ly 2.0% in 2013 .

EMEA Net Sales in 2012 decreased 11.8% to $166IBmas compare
to 2011 Net Sales of $188.3 million. An organic esaldecrease
approximately 6.3% was primarily due to sales witume decrease
particularly industrial equipment, due to continuedonomic uncertaint
Unfavorable direct foreign currency exchange effattcreased EMEA N
Sales by approximately 5.5% in 2012.

Asia Pacific — Asia Pacific Net Sales in 2013 decreased 1.1%8th:
million as compared to 2012 Net Sales of $81.1liomll An organic sale
increase of approximately 4.4% was primarily dueiroreased sales
equipment in China and also sales growth in Austi@hd Japan. Unfavoral
direct foreign currency exchange effects decrebsdsales by approximate
5.5% in 2013 .

Asia Pacific Net Sales in 2012 decreased 3.7% 101$8illion over 201
Net Sales of $84.2 million. An organic sales deseeaf approximately 4.2
was primarily due to sales unit volume decreasesmiature market
particularly Australia, somewhat offset by growthChina. Favorable dire
foreign currency exchange effects increased Nets3ay approximately 0.5
in 2012.

Gross Profit

Gross Profit margin was 43.3% in 2013 , a decre&g® basis points ¢
compared to 2012Gross Profit margin in 2013 was unfavorably intpddoy
changes in selling channel mix and the mix of posigold.

Gross Profit margin was 44.0% in 2012, an incredsE70 basis poin
as compared to 2011. Gross Profit margin in 2012 famorably impacted |
favorable product mix, stable commaodity costs armdipction efficiencies.



The 2.0% decrease in consolidated Net Sales foR 281compared
2011 was primarily due to the impact of an unfabtgaforeign currenc
exchange.
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Operating Expenses

Research and Development Expense R&D Expense increaseil.:
million , or 4.3% , in 2013 as compared to 2085 a percentage of Net Sa
2013 R&D Expense increased 10 basis points to 42013 from 4.0%n
the prior year. R&D Expense increased in 2HS8 we made additior
investments in developing innovative new products dur traditional coi
business, as well as our Orbio business.

R&D Expense increased $1.4 million, or 4.8%, in 2@k compared
2011. As a percentage of Net Sales, 2012 R&D BExpémzeased 30 ba
points to 4.0% in 2012 from 3.7% in the prior yedR&D Expense increased
2012 as we made additional investments in our oteddree and othe
sustainable cleaning technologies as well as ote basiness including t
work to redesign our large equipment portfolio.

Selling and Administrative Expense- S&A Expense decreased $¢.1
million , or 0.5% , in 2013 compared to 2012s a percentage of Net Sa
2013 S&A Expense decreased 70 basis points to 3du@4o continued tig
cost controls and improved operating efficienclasluded in the lower S&
Expense during 2013 were two restructuring acttotaling $3.0 million, ¢
40 basis points as a percentage of Net Sales.

S&A Expense decreased by $7.5 million, or 3.1%2012 compared
2011. As a percentage of Net Sales, 2012 S&A Expelesreased 30 ba
points to 31.7% due to continued tight cost costienhd improved operati
efficiencies.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest Income — Interest Income was $0.4 million in 20,18 decreas
of $0.7 million from 2012 The decrease between 2013 and 2012 was |
decreases in interest rates on cash invested.

Interest Income was $1.1 million in 2012, an insee@f $0.3 milliol
from 2011. The increase between 2012 and 2011 wasta an increase
cash invested.

Interest Expense — Interest Expense was $1.8 million in 20a3
compared to $2.5 million in 2012This decrease was primarily due to lo
interest rates on long-term adjustable rate borrgaui

Interest Expense was $2.5 million in 2012 as coegb&o $2.2 million il
2011. This increase was primarily due to a hightsrest rate related to long-
term fixed rate borrowings initiated in 2011.

Net Foreign Currency Transaction (Losses) Gains -Net Foreigi
Currency Transaction Losses were $0.7 million i632&s compared to Los:
of $1.4 million in 2012 The favorable decrease from the prior year wastc
fluctuations in foreign currency rates in the noke@urse of business.

Net Foreign Currency Transaction Losses were $ildbmin 2012 a
compared to Gains of $0.6 million in 2011. The wofable decrease from |
prior year was due to fluctuations in foreign coog rates in the norm
course of business.

Income Taxes

The overall effective income tax rate was 32.8%6%0and 32.9% |
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The tax expénrs2013 includes a $C
million tax benefit associated with restructuringagges of $3.0 million. Tt
tax expense also includes a first quarter disdetdenefit of $0.6 million fc
the enactment of the Federal R&D credit retroatfiviepacting the tax ye
ended December 31, 2012. Excluding these speerakitthe overall effecti
tax rate would have been 32.3%.

The tax expense for 2012 included a $2.0 million tanefit associatt

The decrease in the 2013 overall effective tax estecompared to t
prior year, excluding the effect of these spedihis, was primarily related
the mix in our full year taxable earnings by coynémd more favorab
discrete items in 2013.

The 2011 net tax expense included only a $0.5aniltax benefit in th
second quarter associated with the $5.5 milliontpxecharges related
Hofmans product obsolescence and international utixec severanc
materially impacting the overall effective rate.clding these charges,
2011 overall rate would have been 30.4%.

We do not have any plans to repatriate the unbigd earnings of non-
U.S. subsidiaries. Any repatriation from foreigrbsidiaries that would res
in incremental U.S. taxation is not being consideitis management's bel
that reinvesting these earnings outside the U.$hdsmost efficient use
capital.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity — Cash and Cash Equivalents totaled $81.0 millan
December 31, 2013 , as compared to $53.9 millioof &@ecember 31, 2012
Cash and Cash Equivalents held by our foreign disdrés totaled $13
million as of December 31, 2018s compared to $10.6 million as
December 31, 2012Wherever possible, cash management is centradime
intercompany financing is used to provide workirapital to subsidiaries
needed. Our current ratio was 2.4 as of DecemheRB13 and 2.2as o
December 31, 2012 , and our working capital was3gL&illion and$151.¢
million , respectively.

Our Debt-to-Capital ratio was 10.8% as of Decenider 2013,
compared with 12.1% as of December 31, 20Qur capital structure w
comprised of $31.8 million of Debt and $263.8 roilli of Shareholders’
Equity as of December 31, 2013 .

Cash Flow Summary — Cash provided by (used in) our operat
investing and financing activities is summarizedd®ws (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011

Operating Activities $ 59,81 $ 47,56¢ $ 56,90¢
Investing Activities:

Purchases of Property, Plant and

Equipment, Net of Disposals (24,655 (14,59 (13,309

Acquisitions of Businesses, Net of

Cash Acquired (750) (750 (2,917

Proceeds from Sale of Business 4,261 1,01« —

(Increase) Decrease in Restricted

Cash (259) 3,08¢ (3,279
Financing Activities (21,495  (34,93) (24,24)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on
Cash and Cash Equivalents 12z 20¢ (355)
Net Increase in Cash and Cash
Equivalents $ 27,04: $ 1,601 $ 12,81(

Operating Activities — Cash provided by operating activities v&9.¢
million in 2013 , $47.6 million in 2012 and $56.9lllon in 2011 . In 2013
cash provided by operating activities was driven $80.2 million of Net
Earnings and an increase in Accounts Payable, sbategffset by increas
in Inventories and Receivables. The increase iertories was in support
the launches of many new products. The increa&eteivables was due t
variety of terms offered and mix of business. Castvided by operatir
activities was $ 12.2 milliohigher in 2013 as compared to 2012 primarily
to a $15.0 million discretionary contribution matdethe U.S. Pension Plan



with an international entity restructuring which terdally decreased tl 2012 and there were no contributions made in 2013.
overall effective tax rate. Excluding this tax bfinaéhe overall effective te
rate would have been 34.0%.
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In 2012, cash provided by operating activities veliven by $41.
million of Net Earnings and an increase in AccouReceivable, somewt
offset by a decrease in accrued Employee Compensatid Benefits. Tt
increase in Accounts Receivables was due to atyaofeterms offered ar
mix of business. Cash provided by operating aéiwitvas $9.3 million low:
in 2012 as compared to 2011 primarily due to a &1billion discretionar
contribution made to the U.S. Pension Plan in Déxeerd012.

For 2013, we used operating profit and operating profit giraras ke

indicators of financial performance and the primargtrics for performance-

based incentives.

Two metrics used by management to evaluate hovetefédy we utilize
our net assets are “Accounts Receivable Days Salgstanding” (“DSOJ
and “Days Inventory on Hand” (“DIOH"), on a firati first-out (“FIFO”")
basis. The metrics are calculated on a rollingehr®nth basis in order
more readily reflect changing trends in the businédhese metrics for t
quarters ended December 31 were as follows (in)days

2013 2012 2011
DSO 61 60 58
DIOH 81 78 88

DSO increased 1 day in 2013 as compared to poib2arily due to th
variety of terms offered and mix of business havandarger unfavorab
impact than the favorable trend of continued prgacthanagement of o
receivables by enforcing tighter credit limits aoohtinuing to successfu
collect past due balances.

DIOH increased 3 days in 2013 as compared to Z@tfarily due tc
increased levels of inventory in support of thenlzhes of many new produ
somewhat offset by progress from inventory reductimtiatives.

Investing Activities — Net cash used for investing activities vl .«
million in 2013 , $11.2 million in 2012 and $19.5llion in 2011. Net capite
expenditures were $14.7 million during 2013 as careg to $14.6 milliorin
2012 and $13.3 million in 2011 . Our 20t3pital expenditures includ
investments in tooling related to new product depsient, and manufacturi
and information technology process improvementeqmtsj Proceeds from S
of Business provided $4.3 million in 2013 and $hilion in 2012 .

Capital expenditures in 2012 included tooling rdato new produ
development, manufacturing equipment and infornmatiEchnology proce
improvement projects. Capital expenditures in 2ibtiuded tooling related
new product development, investments in our fageditncluding the new pla
in China, technology upgrades, and manufacturimblan equipment.

Financing Activities — Net cash used for financing activities Wkl .t
million in 2013 , $34.9 million in 2012 and $24.4llion in 2011 . In 2013
payments of dividends used $13.2 million and paymenh LongTerm Deb
used $1.1 million , partially offset by Short-TeBorrowings of $1.5 million
In 2012, payments of Longerm Debt used $3.0 million and payment
dividends used $12.8 million. In 2011, paymentsLofig-Term Debt use
$19.3 million, which was more than offset by a $2fillion issuance of fixe
rate LongTerm Debt, and payments of dividends used $12.%omil Oul
annual cash dividend payout increased for thé&'d@nsecutive year t$0.72
per share in 2013, an increase of $0.03 per shane2012 .

Proceeds from the issuance of Common Stock gene$&e& millionin
2013, $4.2 million in 2012 and $4.2 million in 201

On April 25, 2012, the Board of Directors authodzbe repurchase
1,000,000 shares of our common stock. This waddditian to the 618,0¢
shares remaining under our current repurchase gmogat that time. /

There were 434,118 shares repurchased in 2013einoplen marke
621,340 shares repurchased in 2012 and 469,304sshegpurchased duri
2011, at average repurchase prices of $51.04 daoag, $40.78 during 20
and $37.51 during 2011. Our Credit Agreement wiRiMdrgan Chase Ba
limits the payment of dividends and repurchasestadk to amounts rangi
from $50.0 million to $75.0 million per fiscal yebased on our leverage r¢
after giving effect to such payments for the lifelee agreement.

Indebtedness— As of December 31, 201,3we had committed lines
credit totaling approximately $125.0 milliand uncommitted lines of cre
totaling approximately $87.8 million . There werg0%) million outstandin
borrowings under our JPMorgan facility, $20.0 roilli outstandin
borrowings under our Prudential facility and $1.8lion outstanding und
the facility with HSBC Shanghai as of December3213. In addition, w:
had stand alone letters of credit of approximaggyl millionoutstanding ar
bank guarantees in the amount of approximately #tlkon . Commitmer
fees on unused lines of credit for the year endecebhber 31, 2013 we$d.:
million .

Our most restrictive covenants are part of our €rAdreement witl
JPMorgan, which are the same covenants in our Shegttement wit
Prudential described below, and require us to raminan indebtedness
EBITDA ratio of not greater than 3.00 toahd to maintain an EBITDA
interest expense ratio of no less than 3.50de af the end of each quarter.
of December 31, 2013 , our indebtedness to EBITB#orwas 0.41 to &Anc
our EBITDA to interest expense ratio was 48.00 to 1

Credit Facilities

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association

On April 25, 2013, we entered into Amendment Néo bur 2011 Crec
Agreement which amends the Credit Agreement, datedf May 5, 201.
with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A. (“JPMorgard$, administrative agent ¢
collateral agent, U.S. Bank National Associatio sgndication agent, We
Fargo Bank, National Association, and RBS CitizemM$A., as co-
documentation agents, and the Lenders (includifgod§an) from time t
time party thereto (the “2011 Credit Agreementdnder the original term
the 2011 Credit Agreement provides us and certhoupforeign subsidiari
access to a senior unsecured credit facility dady 5, 2016, in the amount
$125.0 million , with an option to expand by up$®2.5 millionto a total o
$187.5 million. Borrowings may be denominated in U.S. Dollarsertair
other currencies. The 2011 Credit Agreement costar5100.0 millior
sublimit on borrowings by foreign subsidiaries.

Under the original terms of the 2011 Credit Agrenatnahe fee fc
committed funds ranges from an annual rate of 0.85840%, depending ¢
our leverage ratio. Eurocurrency borrowings untler2011 Credit Agreeme
bear interest at a rate per annum equal to adjus®@R plus an addition
spread of 1.50% to 2.10%depending on our leverage ratio. Alternate |
Rate (“ABR”) borrowings bear interest at a rate per annum etpahe
greatest of (a) the prime rate, (b) the federatifurate plus 0.50%nd (c) th
adjusted LIBOR rate for a one month period plus¥d,Oplus, in any suc
case, an additional spread of 0.50% to 1.108epending on our levere
ratio.



December 31, 2013there were 630,603 remaining shares authorizk
repurchase.
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Effective April 25, 2013, Amendment No. 1 to the 120 Credi
Agreement principally provides the following chasg® the 2011 Crec
Agreement:

e extends the maturity date of the 2011 Credit Agret toMarch 1
2018;

e« changes the fees for committed funds under the 2QGtédi
Agreement to an annual rate ranging from 0.20%36%, dependin
on our leverage ratio;

» changes the per annum interest rate on Eurocurrbooywings ti
adjusted LIBOR plus an additional spread of 1.30861t90% ,
depending on our leverage ratio;

e changes the ABR rate at which borrowings bear ésteto a rate p
annum equal to the greatest of (a) the prime (B)ethe federal func
rate plus 0.50%and (c) the adjusted LIBOR rate for a one m
period plus 1.0% plus, in any such case, an additional spre:
0.30% to 0.90% , depending on our leverage ratid; a

e changes related to new or recently revised findmegulations

The 2011 Credit Agreement gives the Lenders a pleafg65%of the
stock of certain first tier foreign subsidiariedieTobligations under the 2C
Credit Agreement are also guaranteed by certaiouoffirst tier domest
subsidiaries.

The 2011 Credit Agreement contains customary reptasons
warranties and covenants, including but not limitedcovenants restrictil
our ability to incur indebtedness and liens and geeor consolidate wi
another entity. Further, the 2011 Credit Agreememttains the followin
covenants:

e a covenant requiring us to maintain an indebtedt@&BITDA ratic
as of the end of each quarter of not greater thadt® 1 ;

e a covenant requiring us to maintain an EBITDA tteiast expen:
ratio as of the end of each quarter of no less a0 to 1 ;

e a covenant restricting us from paying dividendsepurchasing stos
if, after giving effect to such payments, our lege ratio is great
than 2.00 to 1, in such case limiting such payments to an an
ranging from $50.0 million to $75.0 millioduring any fiscal ye:
based on our leverage ratio after giving effecuoh payments; and

e a covenant restricting our ability to make acqigss, if, after givin
proforma effect to such acquisition, our leverageorai greater the
2.75to 1, in such case limiting acquisitions 25% million .

As of December 31, 2018e were in compliance with all covene
under the Credit Agreement. There was $10.0 millian outstandin
borrowings under this facility at December 31, 20%8th a weighted avera
interest rate of 1.47% .

Prudential Investment Management, Inc.

On July 29, 2009, we entered into a Private ShglfeAment (the Shell
Agreement”) with Prudential Investment Managemént, (“Prudential”)anc
Prudential affiliates from time to time party theereThe Shelf Agreeme
provides us and our subsidiaries access to an united, senior secure
maximum aggregate principal amount of $80.0 millafndebt capital. Tt
Shelf Agreement contains representations, warmsuatiel covenants, includi
but not limited to covenants restricting our apilib incur indebtedness &
liens and to merge or consolidate with anothertenlihe Shelf Agreeme

On May 5, 2011, we entered into Amendment No. &uoPrivate She
Agreement (the “Amendment”).

The Amendment principally provides the followingaciges to the Shi
Agreement:

e elimination of the security interest in our perdomasoperty an
subsidiaries;

¢ an amendment to the maximum leverage ratio tayreater thar3.0C
to 1 for any period ending on or after March 31120

« an amendment to our restriction regarding the paymokdividends ¢
repurchase of stock to restrict us from paying dbwds c
repurchasing stock if, after giving effect to suphyments, ot
leverage ratio is greater than 2.00 tq ih such case limiting su
payments to an amount ranging from $50.0 millior#.0 millior
during any fiscal year based on our leverage &dtier giving effect t
such payments; and

« an amendment to Permitted Acquisitions restricting ability to mak
acquisitions, if, after giving préerma effect to such acquisition, ¢
leverage ratio is greater than 2.75 to, lin such case limitir
acquisitions to $25.0 million .

On July 24, 2012, we entered into Amendment Na. @ur Private She
Agreement (“Amendment No. 2")which amends the Shelf Agreement.
principal change effected by Amendment No. 2 i&&ension of the Issuar
Period for Shelf Notes under the Shelf Agreemeht Tssuance Period ni
expires on July 24, 2015 .

As of December 31, 2013 , there was $20.0 millianoutstandin
borrowings under this facility; the $10.0 millicBeries A notes issued
March 2011 with a fixed interest rate of 4.00% and year ternserially
maturing from 2014 to 2018 ; and the $10.0 mill®eries B notes issued
June 2011 with a fixed interest rate of 4.10% antiOayear termserially
maturing from 2015 to 2021We were in compliance with all covenants ol
Shelf Agreement as of December 31, 2013 .

The Royal Bank of Scotland Citizens, N.A.

On September 14, 2010, we entered into an overtheitity with The
Royal Bank of Scotland Citizens, N.A. in the amoah®.0 million Euros o
approximately $2.8 million There was no balance outstanding on this fa
as of December 31, 2013 .

HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited, Shanghai Branch

On June 20, 2012, we entered into a banking faailith the HSB(
Bank (China) Company Limited, Shanghai Branch ie #imount of$5.C
million . There was $1.5 millioin outstanding borrowings on this facility
of December 31, 2013, with a fixed interest rdtB.0% .

Notes Payabl

On May 31, 2011, we incurred $1.5 milliam debt related to installme
payments due to the former owners of Water Star, (HWater Star") i
connection with our acquisition of Water Star, ohigh none remain:
outstanding as of December 31, 2013 .

Collateralized Borrowings
Collateralized borrowings represent deferred splexeeds on certe

leasing transactions with thigghrty leasing companies. These transactior
accounted for as borrowings, with the related aseapitalized as proper



limits the payment of dividends or repurchases totks to an amoul plant and equipment and depreciated straight-lmes the lease term.
ranging from $12.0 million to $40.0 milliobased on our leverage ratio a
giving effect to such payments.
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Capital Lease Obligations

Capital lease obligations outstanding are primargjated to sale-
leaseback transactions with thipdsty leasing companies whereby we sel
manufactured equipment to the leasing company aadel it back. Tt
equipment covered by these leases is rented t@usiomers over the le:
term.

Contractual Obligations — Our contractual obligations as of Decen
31, 2013, are summarized by period due in thevidiig table (in thousands):

Less More
Than 1 1-3 3-5 Than 5
Total Year Years Years Years

Short-term
Borrowings® $ 150C $ 1,50C $ — $ — $ —
Long-term debf 30,00¢ 2,00¢ 6,857 16,857 4,28¢
Interest payment
on long-term
debt® 3,36( 89¢ 1,43¢ 76C 264
Capital leases 28¢ 28¢ — — —
Interest payment
on capital leases 17 17 — — —
Retirement benef
plans® 1,34¢ 1,34¢ — — —
Deferred
compensation
arrangement$ 7,62¢ 58¢ 53C 20¢ 6,30z
Operating
leases” 19,88¢ 8,39¢ 8,507 2,67( 311
Purchase
obligations® 54,26 53,41¢ 8432 — —
Other®” 7,67( 7,67( — — —
Total contractual
obligations $ 125,96: $ 76,12¢ $ 18,17¢ $ 20,49 $ 11,16

1) Shortterm debt represents bank borrowings from our by

facility with HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited, &kghai Brancl
Amounts drawn on the facility are due within 1 yeath a fixed interest ra
of 5.1%.

2) Longterm debt represents bank borrowings and borroy
through our Credit Agreement with JPMorgan and $helf Agreement wit
Prudential. Our Credit Agreement with JPMorgan does have specifie
repayment terms; therefore, repayment is due upgpiration of the
agreement on March 1, 2018. Interest payments o€ mdit Agreement we
calculated using the December 31, 2Q1BOR rate based on the assump
that the principal would be repaid in full upon #aeiration of the agreeme
Our borrowings under our Shelf Agreement with Pniid¢ have 7 and !
year terms, serially maturing from 2014 to 2021hwiiked interest rates
4.00% and 4.10%, respectively.

3) Our retirement benefit plans, as described in Niteof the
Consolidated Financial Statements, require us t&enwntributions to tt
plans from time to time. Our plan obligations tethl$5.9 million as «
December 31, 2013Contributions to the various plans are dependenh :
number of factors including the market performaotplan assets, if any, a
future changes in interest rates, which impact abriarial measurement
plan obligations. As a result, we have only incllideur 2014 expect
contribution in the contractual obligations table.

December 31, 20130ur estimated distributions in the contractudigations
table are based upon a number of assumptions ingliermination dates a
participant distribution elections.

(5) Operating lease commitments consist primarily dicef anc
warehouse facilities, vehicles and office equipmentiscussed in Note 13
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(6) Purchase obligations include all known open purehaslers
contractual purchase commitments and contractudigatlons as ¢
December 31, 2013 .

) Other obligations include collateralized borrowiragsdiscusse
in Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statemesmtsl residual vall
guarantees as discussed in Note 13 of the Contadidinancial Statements.

Total contractual obligations exclude our grosseuagnized tax benef
of $3.7 million and accrued interest and penalti¢s$0.5 million as o
December 31, 2013We expect to make cash outlays in the futuretedl&
uncertain tax positions. However, due to the uadety of the timing of futur
cash flows, we are unable to make reasonably teliedtimates of the peri
of cash settlement, if any, with the respectivangoauthorities. For furth
information related to unrecognized tax benefiteg sNote 14 of tt
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Newly Issued Accounting Guidance

Presentation of Unrecognized Tax Bene

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standardsarfo issue
amendments to guidance on the financial statemeeseptation of &
unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating dass/forward, a similar te
loss or a tax credit carryforward exists. The amegcts require entities
present an unrecognized tax benefit netted agaertiin deferred tax ass
when specific requirements are met. The amendnaateffective for fisci
years, and interim periods within those years, ii@igg after December 1
2013; however, early adoption is permitted. We dbaxpect this guidance
have a material impact on our results of operat@rfiancial position.

No other new accounting pronouncements issued gl@®i3 but not y:
effective has had, or is expected to have, a natinpact on our results
operations or financial position.



(4) The unfunded deferred compensation arrangementsriog
certain current and retired management employeakethb$7.6 million as of
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are basetherselection ar
application of accounting principles generally aited in the United States
America, which require us to make estimates andnagSons about futu
events that affect the amounts reported in our GQateted Financi:
Statements and the accompanying notes. Our signifiaccounting polici
are described in Note 1 of the Consolidated Firn8tatements. FutL
events and their effects cannot be determined \altisolute certaint
Therefore, the determination of estimates requinesexercise of judgme
Actual results could differ from those estimates] any such differences n
be material to the Consolidated Financial Statemewfe believe that tl
following policies may involve a higher degree afigment and complexity
their application and represent the critical actimgn policies used in tt
preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statesidhdifferent assumptiol
or conditions were to prevail, the results couldrzgerially different from ot
reported results.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — We record a reserve for accot
receivable that are potentially uncollectible. Ansilerable amount
judgment is required in assessing the realizatfchese receivables includi
the current creditworthiness of each customer ataded aging of the padiie
balances. In order to assess the collectibilityheke receivables, we perfc
ongoing credit evaluations of our customefislancial condition. Throuc
these evaluations, we may become aware of a situathere a customer
not be able to meet its financial obligations duele¢terioration of its financi
viability, credit ratings or bankruptcy. The resemequirements are based
the best facts available to us and are reevalumtedadjusted as additio
information becomes available. Our reserves are assed on amout
determined by using percentages applied to tradmivables. The:
percentages are determined by a variety of fagtetading, but not limited t
current economic trends, historical payment anddsdat writeeff experience
We are not able to predict changes in the finarcmaldition of our custome
and if circumstances related to these customeexideite,our estimates
the recoverability of accounts receivable couldniegerially affected and v
may be required to record additional allowancesterfhtively, if mor
allowances are provided than are ultimately reqljivee may reverse a porti
of such provisions in future periods based on titaa collection experienc
Bad debt writesffs as a percentage of Net Sales were approxiyn@atao ir
2013, 0.3% in 2012 and 0.2% in 2011 . As of Decan®i, 2013 we ha
$4.5 million reserved against Accounts Receivabtedbubtful accounts.

Inventory Reserves— We value our inventory at the lower of the cos
inventory or fair market value through the estdbtient of a reserve f
excess, slow moving and obsolete inventory. In sssg the ultimai
realization of inventories, we are required to mkdgments as to futu
demand requirements compared with inventory leREserve requiremel
are developed by comparing our inventory leveloto projected demai
requirements based on historical demand, marketitons and technologic
and product life cycle changes. It is possible tmatincrease in our rese
may be required in the future if there are sigaificdeclines in demand -
certain products. This reserve creates a new ess$s for these products an
considered permanent. As of December 31, 2038e had $3.3 millio
reserved against Inventories.

Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess of cost over theviue o
net assets of businesses acquired and is allotatear reporting units at t
time of the acquisition. We analyze Goodwill onaamual basis and when
event occurs or circumstances change that may eetthacfair value of one
our reporting units below its carrying amount. Aodwill impairment los
occurs if the carrying amount of a reporting uwitjoodwill exceeds its f:
value.

We performed an analysis of qualitative factorgdétermine whether it
more likely than not that the fair value of a rdpay unit is less than i
carrying amount as a basis for determining whettismecessary to perform

the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment teshe first step of the two-
step model is used as an indicator to identifyhéré is potential goodw
impairment. If the first step indicates there mayam impairment, the secc
step is performed which measures the amount ofjtleeiwill impairment, i
any. We perform our goodwill impairment analysisopAyear end and use ¢
judgment to develop assumptions for the discounteth flow model that v
use, if necessary. Management assumptions inchugedsting revenues ¢
margins, estimating capital expenditures, deprieciatamortization ar
discount rates.

If our goodwill impairment testing resulted in orm@ more of ou
reporting units’ carrying amount exceeding its fair value, we wouldte
down our reporting unitstarrying amount to its fair value and would rec
an impairment charge in our results of operationsthe period suc
determination is made. Subsequent reversal of giliddwpairment charges
not permitted. Each of our reporting units werelyred for impairment as
December 31, 201@8nd based upon our analysis, the estimated fairesad
our reporting units substantially exceeded theiryilag amounts. We h:
Goodwill of $18.9 million as of December 31, 2013 .

Warranty Reserves— We record a liability for warranty claims at
time of sale. The amount of the liability is basadthe trend in the historic
ratio of claims to net sales, the historical lengthime between the sale ¢
resulting warranty claim, new product introducticared other factors. Futt
claims experience could be materially differentirprior results because
the introduction of new, more complex products,hange in our warran
policy in response to industry trends, competitiwrother external forces,
manufacturing changes that could impact productityudn the event w
determine that our current or future product remaid replacement co
exceed our estimates, an adjustment to these essevguld be charged
earnings in the period such determination is ma@larranty expense as
percentage of Net Sales was 1.4% in 2013, 1.72012 and 1.7% in 2011
As of December 31, 2013 , we had $9.7 millreserved for future estimal
warranty costs.

Income Taxes— We are required to estimate our income taxes ih el
the jurisdictions in which we operate. This processlves estimating o
actual current tax obligations based on expectednie, statutory tax ral
and tax planning opportunities in the various fidgons. We also establi
reserves for uncertain tax matters that are comipleature and uncertain
to the ultimate outcome. Although we believe that @x return positions &
fully supportable, we consider our ability to ulately prevail in defendir
these matters when establishing these reservesdjist our reserves in lic
of changing facts and circumstances, such as thgngd of a tax audit. W
believe that our current reserves are adequate ekdenwthe ultimate outcor
may differ from our estimates and assumptions anddcimpact the incon
tax expense reflected in our Consolidated StatesrafrEarnings.

Tax law requires certain items to be included intax return at differe
times than the items are reflected in our resuitsp@rations. Some of the
differences are permanent, such as expenses thabadeductible in our t
returns, and some differences will reverse overtisuch as depreciati
expense on property, plant and equipment. Thespaery differences resi
in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which areluded within ot
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Deferred tax asseerally represent iter
that can be used as a tax deduction or credit itaoureturns in future yee
but have already been recorded as an expense i@ansolidated Stateme
of Earnings. We assess the likelihood that our rdefetax assets will |
recovered from future taxable income, and, basechamagemens’ judgmen
to the extent we believe that recovery is not nlidedy than not, we establi:
a valuation reserve against those deferred taxsastbe deferred tax as
valuation allowance could be materially differerdgrh actual results becat
of changes in the mix of future taxable income, rflationship between bo
and taxable income and our tax planning strategie®f December 31, 2013
a valuation allowance of $7.2 million was recordeghinst foreign tax lo
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Cautionary Factors Relevant to

Information

ForwardLooking

This annual report on Form 10-K, including “Managen’s Discussio
and Analysis of Financial Condition and ResultsQgerations”in Item 2
contain certain statements that are consideredvéai-looking statements”
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga Reform Act of 199!

Forward-looking statements generally can be idieatiby the use of forward-

looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,intend,” “estimate,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “project,” or “continue”or similar words or tt
negative thereof. These statements do not relatgittly historical or currel
facts and provide current expectations of forecakfsiture events. Any su
expectations or forecasts of future events areestihp a variety of factol
Particular risks and uncertainties presently faciagnclude:

*  Geopolitical and economic uncertainty throughoetworld
e Competition in our busines
e Ability to attract and retain key persont

» Ability to successfully upgrade, evolve and protect informatiol
technology systems.

« Ability to effectively manage organizational chasi

e Ability to develop and commercialize new innovatigeoducts an
services.

e Ability to comply with laws and regulatior

e Fluctuations in the cost or availability of raw mdls and purchas
components.

« Unforeseen product liability claims or product qtyaissues
e Occurrence of a significant business interrup

. Relative strength of the U.S. dollar, which affetlt® cost of ot
materials and products purchased and sold intemelty.

We caution that forwartboking statements must be considered care
and that actual results may differ in material wayse to risks ar
uncertainties both known and unknown. Informatibwwt factors that cou
materially affect our results can be found in Raftem 1A - Risk Factor:
Shareholders, potential investors and other reaatersirged to consider th
factors in evaluating forwarboking statements and are cautioned not to
undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

We undertake no obligation to update or revise forywarddooking
statement, whether as a result of new informafiature events or otherwis
Investors are advised to consult any further d@ales by us in our filing
with the Securities and Exchan@®mmission and in other written statem
on related subjects. It is not possible to antieipar foresee all risk facto
and investors should not consider any list of siaciors to be an exhaust
or complete list of all risks or uncertainties.

ITEM 7A — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Abou
Market Risk

Commodity Risk — We are subject to exposures resulting from potk
cost increases related to our purchase of raw makteor other produ
components. We do not use derivative commodityrinsénts to manage ¢
exposures to changes in commodity prices such ess, iil, gas, lead a
other commodities.

Various factors beyond our control affect the prige oil and gas
including but not limited to worldwide and domessigpplies of oil and g
political instability or armed conflict in ojproducing regions, the price ¢
level of foreign imports, the level of consumer dew, the price ar
availability of alternative fuels, domestic anddign governmental regulatic
weatherrelated factors and the overall economic envirortméfe purchas
petroleumrelated component parts for use in our manufagusperations. |
addition, our freight costs associated with shigpamd receiving product a
sales and service vehicle fuel costs are impagyetlbtuations in the cost
oil and gas.

Increases in worldwide demand and other factoecathe price for lea
steel and related products. We do not maintain rexentory of raw c
fabricated steel or batteries in excess of neam production requirements.
a result, increases in the price of lead or stael gignificantly increase t
cost of our lead- and steel-based raw materialcamponent parts.

During the first part of 2013, our raw materialsdaother purchast
component costs were unfavorably impacted by conitmqutices althoug
we were able to somewhat mitigate these highesaaish pricing actions ar
cost reduction activities. We continue to focus mitigating the risk c
continued future raw material or other product comgmt cost increas
through product pricing, negotiations with our versl and cost reducti
actions. The success of these efforts will depgrmhwur ability to increa:
our selling prices in a competitive market and ability to achieve co
savings. If the commodity prices increase signiftgaand we are not able
offset the increases with higher selling prices, msults may be unfavoral
impacted in 2014.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk— Due to the global nature of ¢
operations, we are subject to exposures resultiogn fforeign currenc
exchange fluctuations in the normal course of lrgsnOur primary exchar
rate exposures are with the Euro, Australian anda@an dollars, Britis
pound, Japanese yen, Chinese yuan and Brazilihageanst the U.S. doll
The direct financial impact of foreign currency baoge includes the effect
translating profits from local currencies to U.8lldrs, the impact of curren
fluctuations on the transfer of goods between querations in the Unite
States and abroad and transaction gains and Idssaddition to the dire
financial impact, foreign currency exchange hasratirect financial impax
on our results, including the effect on sales vaumithin local economies a
the impact of pricing actions taken as a resultfmkign exchange re
fluctuations.

It is not possible to determine the exact impactfakign currenc
translation changes. However, the direct effectreported net sales can
estimated. For the year ended December 31, 20tt® impact of foreig
currency translation resulted in an overall apprate 1% decrease
reported Net Sales. For details of the effectswfency translation on N
Sales of Tennant Company's operating segmentdiesae7 - Management
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations.

S.
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Our objective in managing the exposure to foreigrrency fluctuation
is to minimize the earnings effects associated dtkeign exchange re
changes on certain of our foreign currenigrominated assets and liabilit
We periodically enter into various contracts, pipadly forward exchang
contracts, to protect the value of certain of arefgn currencydenominate
assets and liabilities. The gains and losses osetlentracts genera
approximate changes in the value of the relatedtsissd liabilities. We hi
forward exchange contracts outstanding in the natimmounts of$30.:
million and $42.5 million at the end of 2013 andl12Q respectively. Fc
further information regarding our foreign currendgrward exchanc
contracts, see Note 10 of the Consolidated FinaStéements. The potent
for material loss in fair value of foreign currenoyntracts outstanding and
related underlying exposures as of December 313 2&bm a 10% adver:
change is unlikely due to the sheetm nature of our forward contracts. |
policy prohibits us from entering into transactidasspeculative purposes.

Other Matters —  Management regularly reviews our busir
operations with the objective of improving finarciperformance ar
maximizing our return on investment. As a resultli§ ongoing process
improve financial performance, we may incur additibrestructuring charg
in the future which, if taken, could be materiabtar financial results.
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ITEM 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Tennant Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Tennant Company and subsidiarieChgpany) as of December 31, 2013 and =
and the related consolidated statements of earndogsprehensive income, cash flows, and sharel®ldgquity for each of the years in the thyesr perio
ended December 31, 2013. In connection with ouitswad the consolidated financial statements, wso dlave audited the financial statement schedt
included in Item 15.A.2. We also have audited tlhen@anys internal control over financial reporting as add@mber 31, 2013, based on criteria establist
Internal Control- Integrated Framework (19923sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadriee Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company
management is responsible for these consolidatashdial statements, for maintaining effective in&rcontrol over financial reporting, and for itssassme
of the effectiveness of internal control over finah reporting, included in the accompanying Mamaget's Report on Internal Control over Finan
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an @pinon these consolidated financial statements farahcial statement schedule, and an opinion ol
Company’s internal control over financial reportingsed on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstaits of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBio(United States). Those standards re
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain nealle assurance about whether the financial staisnaee free of material misstatement and whetlfiecteve
internal control over financial reporting was mained in all material respects. Our audits of tiesolidated financial statements included examinamga tes
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disessno the financial statements, assessing theuatiog principles used and significant estimatesieniy
management, and evaluating the overall financiatestent presentation. Our audit of internal contreér financial reporting included obtaining
understanding of internal control over financigdaging, assessing the risk that a material weakegsts, and testing and evaluating the desigroaedatini
effectiveness of internal control based on the ss&sk risk. Our audits also included performing sottter procedures as we considered necessary
circumstances. We believe that our audits providsaaonable basis for our opinions.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @g@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregéhe reliability of financial reportir
and the preparation of financial statements foem purposes in accordance with generally acdegteounting principles. A compayinternal control ovi
financial reporting includes those policies andcedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance ofrdscihat, in reasonable detail, accurately andyfegflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets ofdh@pany; (2) provide reasonable assurance thatacions are recorded as necessary to permit ptéepan
financial statements in accordance with generadlyepted accounting principles, and that receipts edpenditures of the company are being made @
accordance with authorizations of management arettdrs of the company; and (3) provide reasonagdeirance regarding prevention or timely deteatf
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition ef¢dbmpany’s assets that could have a materialtaffethe financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of any evatuati
effectiveness to future periods are subject torigliethat controls may become inadequate becausbasfges in conditions, or that the degree of campd
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all mate®spects, the financial position of Tennant Conypanc
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 tlendesults of their operations and their cash dlder each of the years in the thrgsar period ende
December 31, 2013, in conformity with U.S. gengraltcepted accounting principles. Also in our aminithe accompanying financial statement sche
when considered in relation to the basic finansiatements taken as a whole, presents fairly, limaterial respects, the information set forth dire
Furthermore, in our opinion, Tennant Company maietd in all material respects, effective interoahtrol over financial reporting as of December 3013
based on criteria established limternal Control - Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatimhthe Treadws
Commission.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 28, 2014
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings
TENNANT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

(In thousands, except shares and per share data)

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Net Sales 752,01: $ 738,98( $ 753,99¢
Cost of Sales 426,10: 413,68 434,81°
Gross Profit 325,90¢ 325,29¢ 319,18:
Operating Expense:
Research and Development Expense 30,52¢ 29,26: 27,91
Selling and Administrative Expense 232,97¢ 234,11. 241,62¢
Gain on Sale of Business — (7849) —
Total Operating Expense 263,50! 262,59: 269,53t
Profit from Operations 62,40: 62,70:¢ 49,64¢
Other Income (Expense):
Interest Income 39C 1,06¢ 752
Interest Expense (1,767 (2,517 (2,239
Net Foreign Currency Transaction (Losses) Gains (671) (1,409 55¢
Other (Expense) Income, Net (48%) 38 12
Total Other Expense, Net (2,525 (2,819 (91%)
Profit Before Income Taxes 59,87¢ 59,89( 48,73(
Income Tax Expense 19,64 18,30¢ 16,017
Net Earnings 40,23 $ 4158: $ 32,71:
Net Earnings per Share:
Basic 2.2C 224 % 1.74
Diluted 214 % 21  $ 1.6¢
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding:
Basic 18,297,37 18,544,89 18,832,69
Diluted 18,833,45 19,102,01 19,360,42
Cash Dividends Declared per Common Share 0.7z % 0.6 $ 0.6¢
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financiaé®ents.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
TENNANT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
(In thousands)
Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Net Earnings 40,23 $ 4158: $ 32,71:
Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (2,242 574 (3,125
Pension and retiree medical benefits 12,28: (2,539 (6,192
Income Taxes:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (15 (25) —
Pension and retiree medical benefits (4,669 88¢ 2,35¢
Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), net of tax 5,362 (1,096 (6,969
Comprehensive Income 4559: % 40,48t $ 25,75(




See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financiaé®ents.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
TENNANT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

(In thousands, except shares and per share data)

December 31 2013 2012
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents 80,98 $ 53,94(
Restricted Cash 39¢ 187
Receivables:
Trade, less Allowances of $4,526 and $4,399, reisphe 135,49: 131,47(
Other 4,69( 6,677
Net Receivables 140,18 138,14
Inventories 66,90¢ 58,13¢
Prepaid Expenses 11,42¢ 11,30¢
Deferred Income Taxes, Current Portion 13,72: 11,33¢
Other Current Assets 1,68: 38¢
Total Current Assets 315,29¢ 273,44¢
Property, Plant and Equipment 300,90¢ 294,91(
Accumulated Depreciation (217,43() (208,71)
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net 83,47¢ 86,19:
Deferred Income Taxes, Long-Term Portion 2,42: 10,98¢
Goodwill 18,92¢ 19,717
Intangible Assets, Net 19,02¢ 21,39
Other Assets 17,15« 9,027
Total Assets 456,30t $  420,76(
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Short-Term Debt and Current Portion of Long-TernbDe 3,80 % 2,04z
Accounts Payable 53,07¢ 47,00z
Employee Compensation and Benefits 29,75¢ 33,02:
Income Taxes Payable 812 78t
Other Current Liabilities 44,07¢ 38,84«
Total Current Liabilities 131,52¢ 121,69:
Long-Term Liabilities:
Long-Term Debt 28,00( 30,28:
Employee-Related Benefits 25,17: 25,87:
Deferred Income Taxes, Long-Term Portion 2,87( 3,32t
Other Liabilities 4,891 4,53¢
Total Long-Term Liabilities 60,93« 64,01:
Total Liabilities 192,46( 185,70¢
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 13)
Shareholders' Equity:
Preferred Stock of $0.02 par value per share, 10000shares authorized; no shares issued or oditstan — —
Common Stock, $0.375 par value per share, 60,00G0b8res authorized; 18,491,524 and 18,464,456dssud outstanding,
respectively 6,93¢ 6,92¢
Additional Paid-In Capital 31,95¢ 22,39¢
Retained Earnings 249,92 236,06!
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (24,979 (30,339
Total Shareholders’ Equity 263,84t 235,05
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 456,30¢ $ 420,76(




See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financiaé®ents.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
TENNANT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

(In thousands)

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Earnings $ 40,23. % 41,58: $ 32,71
Adjustments to reconcile Net Earnings to Net Casiviled by Operating Activities:
Depreciation 17,68¢ 18,07: 18,08¢
Amortization 2,56( 2,80( 3,33(
Impairment of Intangible Assets — — 2,05¢
Deferred Income Taxes 5,62 3,16¢ (1,359
Share-Based Compensation Expense 6,11¢ 9,092 5,407
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Returns 1,27¢ 1,427 1,87¢
Gain on Sale of Business — (784) —
Other, Net 21¢ (22¢) 50¢
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities, Excdgdhe Impact of Acquisitions:
Receivables, Net (7,619 (12,81) (4,45))
Inventories (11,967 (149 (7,665)
Accounts Payable 6,12( 97C 4,617
Employee Compensation and Benefits (4,17¢) (3,00%) 1,173
Other Current Liabilities 5,55z 1,54¢ 1,711
Income Taxes (24¢) 797 1,66¢
U.S. Pension Plan Contributions — (26,737 —
Other Assets and Liabilities (1,560 71t (2,774
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 59,81« 47 ,56¢ 56,90¢
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of Property, Plant and Equipment (14,779 (15,629 (13,909
Proceeds from Disposals of Property, Plant and fiEgent 12C 1,02¢ 601
Acquisition of Businesses, Net of Cash Acquired (750 (750 (2,919
Proceeds from Sale of Business 4,26 1,01« —
(Increase) Decrease in Restricted Cash (259) 3,08¢ (3,279
Net Cash Used for Investing Activities (12,39) (11,249 (19,49))
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Change in Short-Term Borrowings, Net 1,50( — —
Payments of Long-Term Debt (1,096 (2,986 (29,279
Issuance of Long-Term Debt — — 20,00¢(
Purchases of Common Stock (22,157 (25,349 (17,609
Proceeds from Issuances of Common Stock 8,31 4,167 4,21¢
Excess Tax Benefit on Stock Plans 5,17¢ 2,047 1,26¢
Dividends Paid (13,239 (12,817 (12,85))
Net Cash Used for Financing Activities (21,499 (34,939 (24,24°)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cashdients 122 20¢ (355)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27,04« 1,601 12,81(
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 53,94( 52,33¢ 39,52¢
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ 8098 $ 53,94( $ 52,33¢
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid During the Year for:
Income Taxes $ 1345¢ % 11,56 $ 13,15¢
Interest $ 1,602 $ 237t $ 2,05¢
Supplemental Non-Cash Investing and Financing A
Canital FExnenditures Funded Throuah Canital | e $ 601 % 152¢ &% 2 897



Capital Expenditures in Accounts Payable $ 1,09C $ 158: $ 2,66¢
Notes Payable Related to Water Star, Inc. Acqaisiti $ — % — % 1,50(

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financia¢®ents.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
TENNANT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

(In thousands, except shares and per share data)

Total
Additional Paid-  Retained Accumulated Other Shareholders'
Common Share Common Stock in Capital Earnings  Comprehensive Loss Equity
Balance, December 31, 2010 19,038,84 $ 7,14C $ 10,87¢ $ 220,39: $ (22,279 $ 216,13:
Net Earnings — — 32,71 — 32,71
Other Comprehensive Loss — — — (6,969 (6,969
Issue Stock for Directors, Employee Benefit
and Stock Plans 99 4,01¢ — — 4,11¢
Share-Based Compensation — 4,041 — — 4,041
Dividends paid $0.68 per Common Share — — (12,85) — (12,85))
Tax Benefit on Stock Plans — 1,26t — — 1,26¢
Purchases of Common Stock (17¢€) (5,119 (12,309 — (17,609
Balance, December 31, 2011 18,834,94 $ 7,06 $ 15,08: $ 227,94 $ (29,23) $ 220,85:
Net Earnings — — 41,58¢ — 41,58¢
Other Comprehensive Loss — — — (1,096 (2,096
Issue Stock for Directors, Employee Benefit
and Stock Plans 94 2,42 — — 2,517
Share-Based Compensation — 7,31( — — 7,31(C
Dividends paid $0.69 per Common Share — — (12,81)) — (12,819
Tax Benefit on Stock Plans — 2,047 — — 2,047
Purchases of Common Stock (239 (4,464 (20,64¢) — (25,349
Balance, December 31, 2012 18,464,45 $ 6,92¢ $ 22,39¢ $ 236,06 $ (30,33) $ 235,05
Net Earnings — — 40,23: — 40,23:
Other Comprehensive Income — — — 5,362 5,362
Issue Stock for Directors, Employee Benefit
and Stock Plans 17¢ 6,54¢ — — 6,72
Share-Based Compensation — 6,68¢ — — 6,68¢
Dividends paid $0.72 per Common Share — — (13,239 — (13,239
Tax Benefit on Stock Plans — 5,17¢ — — 5,17¢
Purchases of Common Stock (169 (8,85¢) (13,130 — (22,15
Balance, December 31, 2013 18,491,52. $ 6,93¢ $ 31,95¢ $ 249,92 $ (24,97) $ 263,84t

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financia¢®ents.
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policie

Nature of Operations— Our primary business is designing, manufacturing marketing solutions that help create a clearadershealthier world. O
products include equipment for maintaining surfagesndustrial, commercial and outdoor environmerdBemicalfree and other sustainable cleatr
technologies; and coatings for protecting, repgirand upgrading floors and other surfaces. We @all products through our direct sales and se
organization and a network of authorized distrilbsitwvorldwide. Geographically, our customers areated in North America, Latin America, Europe,
Middle East, Africa and Asia Pacific.

Consolidation — The Consolidated Financial Statements include titeunts of Tennant Company and its subsidiarielsinfdrcompany transactions ¢
balances have been eliminated. In these Note®tGdmsolidated Financial Statements, Tennant Coyigaeferred to as “Tennant,” “we,” “us,” or “olr.

Translation of Non-U.S. Currency— Foreign currency-denominated assets and liaslitiave been translated to U.S. dollars at gedrexchange rat
while income and expense items are translatedeatge exchange rates prevailing during the yednsGa losses resulting from translation are inetliés
separate component of Accumulated Other Comprelerisbss. The balance of cumulative foreign curretr@anslation adjustments recorded wi
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss as of DeceBihe2013 , 2012 and 2011 was a net loss of $21,999,734 and $20,283espectively. The majori
of translation adjustments are not adjusted foonme taxes as substantially all translation adjustmeelate to permanent investments in kb8- subsidiarie
Net Foreign Currency Transaction (Losses) Gainsnataded in Other Income (Expens

Use of Estimates- In preparing the consolidated financial statemémtsonformity with U.S. generally accepted accoogtprinciples ("U.S. GAAP"
management must make decisions that impact theteebamounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, es@® and the related disclosures, including disoésso
contingent assets and liabilities. Such decisiaokide the selection of the appropriate accourgingiples to be applied and the assumptions orchwvtd bas
accounting estimates. Estimates are used in det@Ergniamong other items, sales promotions and thanaccruals, inventory valuation, warranty rees
allowance for doubtful accounts, pension and ptistraent accruals, useful lives for intangible éssand future cash flows associated with impaitbesting
for goodwill and other long-lived assets. Thesénesties and assumptions are based on managenest estimates and judgments. Management ev&lits
estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis hisitagical experience and other factors that mememnt believes to be reasonable under the circaces
We adjust such estimates and assumptions whendadtsircumstances dictate. A humber of these fadtelude, among others, economic conditions, it
markets, foreign currency, commodity cost volatiiind consumer spending and confidence, all of vhave combined to increase the uncertainty intén
such estimates and assumptions. As future eventshair effects cannot be determined with precisemtual amounts could differ significantly fromoth
estimated at the time the consolidated financiateshents are prepared. Changes in those estinegakirrg from continuing changes in the econc
environment will be reflected in the financial staents in future periods.

Cash and Cash Equivalents- We consider all highly liquid investments with m@ties of three months or less from the date ofcpase to be ca
equivalents.

Restricted Cash— We have a total of $393 as of December 31, 2B48serves as collateral backing certain bankajiees and is therefore restric
This money is invested in time deposits.

Receivables— Credit is granted to our customers in the normalre® of business. Receivables are recorded anhatigarrying value less reserves
estimated uncollectible accounts and sales retdimsaassess the collectability of these receivables perform ongoing credit evaluations of our costes’
financial condition. Through these evaluations,me&y become aware of a situation where a customgrroabe able to meet its financial obligations ta
deterioration of its financial viability, credittiags or bankruptcy. The reserve requirements ased on the best facts available to us and araluesed an
adjusted as additional information becomes availaBlur reserves are also based on amounts deteriynasing percentages applied to trade receivi
These percentages are determined by a varietyctdraincluding, but not limited to, current ecorortrends, historical payment and bad debt woife-
experience. An account is considered mhet-or delinquent when it has not been paid withi contractual terms. Uncollectible accounts argtem oft
against the reserves when it is deemed that amestaccount is uncollectible.

Inventories — Inventories are valued at the lower of cost orketa Cost is determined on a first-in, first-otEIFO”) basis except for Inventories in Nc
America and Japan which are determined on a ladirgirout (“LIFO”) basis.

Property, Plant and Equipment — Property, plant and equipment is carried at codtdifons and improvements that extend the liveshefassets a
capitalized while expenditures for repairs and reaiance are expensed as incurred. We generallgdaf# buildings and improvements by the straligtat-
method over a life of 30 years . Other propertgnpland equipment are generally depreciated ubiagtraight-line method based on lives of 3 yeark5t
years .

Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess of cost over threvedue of net assets of businesses acquired. \WlgznGoodwill on an annual basis a
year end and when an event occurs or circumstarh@egye that may reduce the fair value of one ofreporting units below its carrying amount. A godid
impairment occurs if the carrying amount of a répgrunit’s goodwill exceeds its fair value. In assessing¢iveverability of Goodwill, we use an analysi
qualitative factors to determine whether it is miikely than not that the fair value of a reportingit is less than its carrying amount as a basgisi€terminini
whether it is necessary to perform the two-stegalbimpairment test.

Intangible Assets— Intangible Assets consist of definite lived custonigs, service contracts, an acquired trade nantetechnology. Intangible Ass



with a definite life are amortized on a straigimtelibasis.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets — We periodically review our intangible and loliged assets for impairment and assess whetherteva
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounthefassets may not be recoverable. We generaliyjn deeasset group to be impaired if an estima
undiscounted future operating cash flows is less tits carrying amount. If impaired, an impairméogs is recognized based on the excess of theilcg
amount of the individual asset group over its Yailue.
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Purchases of Common Stock We repurchase our Common Stock under a 2011 afid2 /2purchase program authorized by our Boardigfcibrs
These programs allow us to repurchase up to 2,00&Bares of our Common Stock. Upon repurchase, theghae is charged to Common Stock anc
remaining purchase price is charged to Additiorzatifn Capital. If the amount of the remaining fhase price causes the Additional Pai@apital account
be in a debit position, this amount is then redl@ssto Retained Earnings. Common Stock repurathéséncluded in shares authorized but is not idetliir
shares outstanding.

Warranty —We record a liability for estimated warranty claiatshe time of sale. The amount of the liabilgybased on the trend in the historical rat
claims to sales, the historical length of time hesw the sale and resulting warranty claim, new yrbéhtroductions and other factors. In the ever
determine that our current or future product repail replacement costs exceed our estimates, ast@aejnt to these reserves would be charged tonegsrir
the period such determination is made. Warrantpdesn machines range from one to four years.

Environmental — We record a liability for environmental clean-mp an undiscounted basis when a loss is probakleambe reasonably estimated.

Pension and Profit Sharing Plans- We have pension and/or profit sharing plans cogesnbstantially all of our employees. Pension mlasts ar
accrued based on actuarial estimates with the nedjpension cost funded annually, as needed. Nopaeticipants have entered the pension plan sif66.2

Postretirement Benefits— We accrue and recognize the cost of retiree Inéalhefits over the employeqseriod of service based on actuarial estim
Benefits are only available for U.S. employeesdbefore January 1, 1999.

Derivative Financial Instruments — We use derivative instruments to manage exposuarderéign currency only in an attempt to limit urigieng
exposures from currency fluctuations and not fading purposes. We periodically enter into varicostracts, principally forward exchange contratd
protect the value of certain of our foreign curedenominated assets and liabilities (principally Eheo, Australian and Canadian dollars, British
Japanese yen, Chinese yuan and Brazilian real)h&/e elected not to apply hedge accounting tredtmeethese contracts as our contracts are for &
duration. These contracts are markednrtarket with the related asset or liability recordle@®ther Current Assets or Other Current Lialghtias applicable. T
gains and losses on these contracts generally dppate changes in the value of the related assetdiabilities. Gains or losses on forward foregchang
contracts to economically hedge foreign curredepominated net assets and liabilities are recedniz Other Income (Expense) under Net Foreign ey
Transaction (Losses) Gains within the Consolid&edements of Earnings.

Revenue Recognitior- We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, title and risk of ownershipehaassed to the custon
the sales price is fixed or determinable and ctibiéity is reasonably assured. Generally, the$eida are met at the time the product is shipfdvisions fo
estimated returns, rebates and discounts are g\t at the time the related revenue is recogniEeeight revenue billed to customers is includediet
Sales and the related shipping expense is includ€bst of Sales. Service revenue is recognizeithénperiod the service is performed or ratably dhe
period of the related service contract.

Customers may obtain financing through thialty leasing companies to assist in their acgorsivbf our equipment products. Certain lease treticaac
classified as operating leases contain retainecewshiip provisions or guarantees, which resulteaognition of revenue over the lease term. As altiese
defer the sale of these transactions and recordsadhes proceeds as collateralized borrowings oercef revenue. The underlying equipment relatir
operating leases is depreciated on a straighblirsés, not to exceed the equipment’s estimatedibifet

Revenues from contracts with multiple element agemnents are recognized as each element is earnedfféf service contracts in conjunction v
equipment sales in addition to selling equipment service contracts separately. Sales proceed®adeia service contracts are deferred if the prdsee
received in advance of the service and recogniatably over the contract period.

Share-based Compensatior- We account for employee share-based compensasiog the fair value based method. Our she®ed compensati
plans are more fully described in Note 15 of the€&ididated Financial Statements.

Research and Development Research and development costs are expensecLaeh

Advertising Costs— We advertise products, technologies and solutiortustomers and prospective customers throughietywaf marketing campai
and promotional efforts. These efforts include égttbws, online advertising,neail marketing, mailings, sponsorships and telemiamlg. Advertising costs ¢
expensed as incurred. In 2013 , 2012 and 2011autehities amounted to $6,412 , $6,466 and $6,#28pectively.

Income Taxes— Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognieethe expected future tax consequences of tempditierences between the book .
tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. Aigibn allowance is provided when, in managensgotigment, it is more likely than not that sometipo or al
of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Mslee established contingent tax liabilities usirgnagemens best judgment. We follow guidance provide:
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 746come Taxes regarding uncertainty in income taxes, to redbabe contingent tax liabilities (refer to N
14 of the Consolidated Financial Statements foriteidl information). We adjust these liabilities facts and circumstances change. Interest Expe
recognized in the first period the interest wouddjidn accruing. Penalties are recognized in theogesie claim or expect to claim the position in tax return
Interest and penalties expenses are classified eame tax expense.

Sales Tax— Sales taxes collected from customers and remittgdvernmental authorities are presented on aasi.b



Earnings per Share— Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing B&nings by the Weighted Average Shares Outstgndiring the perio
Diluted earnings per share assume conversion @npatly dilutive stock options and restricted shawards. Performandmsed shares are included in
calculation of diluted earnings per share in thartgr in which the performance targets have bekieaed.
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2. Newly Adopted Accounting Pronouncement
Offsetting Assets and Liabilities Disclosures

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Starsl@dard (“FASB”)issued updated accounting guidance on disclosumest affsetting assets &
liabilities. This update adds certain additionasctbsure requirements about financial instrumemts derivative instruments that are subject to ng
arrangements. The new disclosures are requirethtierim and annual reporting periods beginning orafter January 1, 2013. This guidance did not ha
material impact on our results of operations oafficial position.

Comprehensive Income

In February 2013, the FASB issued new disclosugairements for items reclassified out of accumulaither comprehensive income. The requiren
do not change the existing accounting and repoftinget income or other comprehensive income. fEgelirements are effective for annual reportingqux
beginning after December 15, 2012. The requiremgidtaot impact our results of operations or firiahposition.

3. Management Action:

Q4 2013 Action -During the fourth quarter of 2013, we implementetestructuring action. A pre-tax charge of $1,5V& recognized in the fou
quarter as a result of this action. The fae-charge consisted primarily of severance and iwelsided within Selling and Administrative Expenisethe
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liabiity balances is as follows:

Severance and
Related Costs

Q4 2013 restructuring action $ 1,577
December 31, 2013 balance $ 1,577

Q1 2013 Action -During the first quarter of 2013, we implementegstructuring action. A pre-tax charge of $1,44 recognized in the first quarte
a result of this action. The ptex charge consisted primarily of severance and melsded within Selling and Administrative Experisethe Consolidate
Statements of Earnings.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liabiity balances is as follows:

Severance and
Related Costs

Q1 2013 restructuring action $ 1,44(
Cash payments (1,110
Foreign currency adjustments 17
December 31, 2013 balance $ 347

2012 Action— During the third quarter of 2012, we implemengerkstructuring action. A pre-tax charge of $Wa® recognized in the third quarter i
result of this action. The ptex charge consisted primarily of severance and imelsided within Selling and Administrative Expenisethe Consolidate
Statements of Earnings.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liabiity balances is as follows:

Severance and
Related Costs

2012 restructuring action $ 76C
Cash payments (414
Foreign currency adjustments 27
December 31, 2012 balance $ 37¢
2013 utilization:

Cash payments (328
Foreign currency adjustments 27)

Change in estimate (18)




December 31, 2013 balance
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4. Acquisitions and Divestitures
Acquisitions

On May 31, 2011 , we acquired Water Star, Inc. (t8%&tar”), a Newbury, Ohio firm specializing ireetrochemistry for $4,456The total purchase pri
of $4,456 was comprised of $2,956 paid at closind avo $750installment payments were paid in cash on May ®l22and 2013. This acquisition

consistent with our strategy to expand our intéliatproperty in support of our long-term visiondeliver sustainable, breakthrough innovations.

The components of the purchase price of the busiresombination described above have been allocated fllows:

Current Assets $ 42¢
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net 167
Identified Intangible Assets 3,80(
Goodwill 47z
Total Assets Acquired 4,86t
Current Liabilities 40¢
Total Liabilities Assumed 40¢
Net Assets Acquired $ 4,45¢

Divestitures

On July 31, 2012 , we entered into a Share Purchgeement (“SPA”) with M&F Management and Finac@mbH (“M&F”) for the sale of ownersk
of our subsidiary, Tennant CEE GmbH and our migdriterest in a joint venture, OOO Tennant. In ede for the ownership of these entities, we reo
€815 , or $1,014 as of the date of sale, in cashfiaaticed the remaining €5,351 , for a total pusehprice of €6,166 . A total of €2,126 , or $2,826a:
received in equal quarterly payments during 2018the first anniversary payment of €1,075 , or $&,&as received on July 31, 2013. The remaining32,
or $2,963 as of December 31, 201@ill be received in equal installments on theosetand third anniversary dates of the divestitd®.a result of thi
divestiture, we recorded a pre-tax gain of $78dunProfit from Operations in the Consolidated &tants of Earnings for the year ended Decembe2®D.

M&F is now a master distributor of Tennant produatshe Central Eastern Europe, Middle East andcAfmarkets. In addition, as further discusse
Note 19, M&F is a related party to Tennant. We haentified M&F as a variable interest entif'VIE”) and have performed a qualitative assessmer
considered M&F's purpose and design, our involvaraed the risks and benefits and determined thabdie is not the primary beneficiary of this VIEhe
only financing Tennant has provided to M&F was tedbto the SPA as noted above and there are niogameents that would require us to provide signifi
financial support in the future.

The assets and liabilities transferred under the Sire Purchase Agreement on the date of sale were falows:

Accounts Receivable $ 4,39¢
Inventories 4,271
Other Current Assets 87
Current Assets 8,75¢€
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net 17C
Total Assets Divested 8,92¢
Current Liabilities 1,121
Total Liabilities Divested 1,121
Net Assets Divested $ 7,80¢
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5. Inventories

Inventories as of December 31, consisted of the ifmling:

2013 2012

Inventories carried at LIFO:
Finished goods $ 36,23t $ 33,54¢
Raw materials, production parts and work-in-process 13,92 14,29:
LIFO reserve (27,467) (27,609
Total LIFO inventories 22,697 20,22¢

Inventories carried at FIFO:
Finished goods 31,48¢ 25,62¢
Raw materials, production parts and work-in-process 12,72( 12,28¢
Total FIFO inventories 44,20¢ 37,90
Total Inventories $ 66,90¢ $ 58,13¢

The LIFO reserve approximates the difference betwdEO carrying cost and FIFO.
6. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, Plant and Equipment and related Accumulaed Depreciation, including equipment under capitaleases, as of December 31, consistes
the following:

2013 2012
Land $ 4311 % 4,29¢
Buildings and improvements 53,49( 52,591
Machinery and manufacturing equipment 143,41 140,33(
Office equipment 91,04¢ 88,81«
Work in progress 8,64¢ 8,87t
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 300,90¢ 294,91(
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (217,43() (208,71)
Net Property, Plant and Equipment $ 83,47¢ $ 86,19:

Depreciation expense was $17,686 in 2013 , $18;02012 and $18,088 in 2011 .
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7. Goodwill and Intangible Asset:

For purposes of performing our goodwill impairmamgalysis, we have identified our reporting unitsNesth America; Latin America; Europe, Midi
East, Africa (‘EMEA”") and Asia Pacific. As of December 31, 2013, 2012 201til, we performed an analysis of qualitativedesto determine whether it
more likely than not that the fair value of a rapay unit is less than its carrying amount as dsbfs determining whether it is necessary to penfthe two-
step goodwill impairment test. Based on our analg$iqualitative factors, we determined that it was necessary to perform the twtep goodwill impairmel
test for any of our reporting units.

The changes in the carrying amount of Goodwill aras follows:

Accumulated

Impairment
Goodwill Losses Total

Balance as of December 31, 2011 $ 66,52. $ (46,22() $ 20,30¢

Foreign currency fluctuations 2,062 (2,649 (586€)
Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 68,58° $ (48,868 $ 19,717

Foreign currency fluctuations 321 (1,209 (78¢)
Balance as of December 31, 2013 $ 68,90¢ $ (49,97) $ 18,92¢

The balances of acquired Intangible Assets, excluatj Goodwill, as of December 31, are as follows:
Customer Lists
and Trade
Service Contracts Name Technology Total

Balance as of December 31, 2013

Original cost $ 23,76¢  $ 4836 $ 7341 $ 35,94¢

Accumulated amortization (11,609 (1,976 (3,339 (16,919
Carrying amount $ 12,15  $ 2,86 $ 4014 $ 19,02¢
Weighted-average original life (in years) 15 14 13
Balance as of December 31, 2012

Original cost $ 23817 $ 4,657 $ 7197 $ 35,67

Accumulated amortization (9,907 (1,565 (2,806 (14,27¢)
Carrying amount $ 13,91¢ $ 3,09 $ 4391 $ 21,39:¢
Weighted-average original life (in years) 15 14 13

During the second quarter of 2011, we impairedaust lists and technology Intangible Assets totpti,805related to the obsolescence of the
Hofmans outdoor city cleaning products in EuropkisTimpairment charge is included within Sellingdafdministrative Expense in the 2011 Consolid
Statement of Earnings.

Amortization expense on Intangible Assets was $2,58,800 and $3,330 for the years ended Dece@ihed013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

Estimated aggregate amortization expense based dnmet current carrying amount of amortizable Intangible Assets for each of the five succeed
years is as follows:

2014 $ 2,381
2015 2,20«
2016 1,871
2017 1,76¢
2018 1,761
Thereafter 9,037

Total $ 19,02¢
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8. Debt

Debt as of December 31, consisted of the following:

2013 2012

Short-Term Debt:

Credit facility borrowings $ 1500 $ —
Long-Term Debt:

Bank borrowings 9 22

Credit facility borrowings 30,00( 30,00(

Notes payable — 75C

Collateralized borrowings 11 39

Capital lease obligations 28¢ 1,512
Total Debt 31,80: 32,32:
Less: current portion (3,809 (2,042
Long-term portion $ 28,000 $ 30,28

As of December 31, 2013 , we had committed linesreflit totaling approximately $125,0@hd uncommitted lines of credit totaling approxiety
$87,757 . There were $10,000 outstanding borrowimgier our JPMorgan facility, $20,000 outstandiogrdwings under our Prudential facility asd,50(
outstanding under the facility with HSBC Shanghsicd December 31, 2013 . In addition, we had stallotie letters of credit of approximate$2,06(
outstanding and bank guarantees in the amountbajmately $501 . Commitment fees on unused lofexredit for the year ended December 31, 20&8
$307 .

Our most restrictive covenants are part of our €r&dreement with JPMorgan, which are the same cants in our Shelf Agreement with Pruder
described below, and require us to maintain anbtediess to EBITDA ratio of not greater than 3®Q and to maintain an EBITDA to interest expense
of no less than 3.50 to 1 as of the end of eachteuas of December 31, 2013, our indebtedne$sBid DA ratio was 0.41 to and our EBITDA to intere
expense ratio was 48.00to 1 .

Credit Facilities

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association

On April 25, 2013, we entered into Amendment Nao bur 2011 Credit Agreement which amends the Creglieement, dated as of May 5, 2011, 1
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A. (“JPMorgardy administrative agent and collateral agent, Baik National Association, as syndication agent]Is\Meargc
Bank, National Association, and RBS Citizens, N&s,codocumentation agents, and the Lenders (includiddgaod§an) from time to time party thereto (
“2011 Credit Agreement”)Jnder the original terms, the 2011 Credit Agreenmotides us and certain of our foreign subsidgdecess to a senior unseci
credit facility until May 5, 2016 , in the amounf $125,000 , with an option to expand by up to $69,to a total of $187,500 Borrowings may t
denominated in U.S. Dollars or certain other cwiesn The 2011 Credit Agreement contains a $100s0060mit on borrowings by foreign subsidiaries.

Under the original terms of the 2011 Credit Agreetnéhe fee for committed funds ranges from an ahnate of 0.25% to 0.40%depending on o
leverage ratio. Eurocurrency borrowings under ®#12Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate peurarequal to adjusted LIBOR plus an additional agre
1.50% to 2.10% , depending on our leverage ratlterAate Base Rate (“ABRDorrowings bear interest at a rate per annum egutile greatest of (a) t
prime rate, (b) the federal funds rate plus 0.50f &) the adjusted LIBOR rate for a one monthqukplus 1.0% plus, in any such case, an additional sg
of 0.50% to 1.10% , depending on our leverage ratio

Effective April 25, 2013, Amendment No. 1 to thel20Credit Agreement principally provides the foliogy changes to the 2011 Credit Agreement:
. extends the maturity date of the 2011 Credit Agreet to March 1, 2018
» changes the fees for committed funds under @4 Zredit Agreement to an annual rate ranging ©a20% to 0.35% depending on our leverage ra

» changes the per annum interest rate on Eurauyrborrowings to adjusted LIBOR plus an additiospitead of 1.30% to 1.90%depending on o
leverage ratio;

e changes the ABR rate at which borrowings bear @steto a rate per annum equal to the greatest) ah¢aprime rate, (b) the federal funds rate
0.50% and (c) the adjusted LIBOR rate for a onetmperiod plus 1.0% , plus, in any such case, aitiadal spread of 0.30% to 0.90%lepending ¢
our leverage ratio; and



» changes related to new or recently revised finamegulations

The 2011 Credit Agreement gives the Lenders a pledd@5%of the stock of certain first tier foreign subsiiés. The obligations under the 2011 Cr
Agreement are also guaranteed by certain of osirtfar domestic subsidiaries.
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The 2011 Credit Agreement contains customary reptasions, warranties and covenants, includingnbtifimited to covenants restricting our ability
incur indebtedness and liens and merge or conselidith another entity. Further, the 2011 Creditéament contains the following covenants:

e acovenant requiring us to maintain an indel#edrio EBITDA ratio as of the end of each quarterod greater than 3.00 to; 1
e acovenant requiring us to maintain an EBITDAmi@rest expense ratio as of the end of eacheuairno less than 3.50 to; 1

e acovenant restricting us from paying dividendsepurchasing stock if, after giving effect tekypayments, our leverage ratio is greater thad @&.a,
in such case limiting such payments to an amourging from $50,000 to $75,0Qfuring any fiscal year based on our leverage wtier giving effec
to such payments; and

e acovenant restricting our ability to make asiions, if, after giving pro-forma effect to suabquisition, our leverage ratio is greater thab 2071, in
such case limiting acquisitions to $25,000 .

As of December 31, 2013 we were in compliance witltovenants under the Credit Agreement. There $t8s000in outstanding borrowings under t
facility at December 31, 2013 , with a weightedrage interest rate of 1.47% .

Prudential Investment Management, Inc.

On July 29, 2009, we entered into a Private ShelfeAment (the “Shelf Agreement”) with Prudentialdatment Management, Inc. (“Prudentiadic
Prudential affiliates from time to time party thiereThe Shelf Agreement provides us and our suls@i access to an uncommitted, senior securedima
aggregate principal amount of $80,000debt capital. The Shelf Agreement contains regméations, warranties and covenants, includingnbtiimited tc
covenants restricting our ability to incur indebteds and liens and to merge or consolidate witlthen@ntity. The Shelf Agreement limits the paymef
dividends or repurchases of stock to an amountimgrfgom $12,000 to $40,000 based on our leverage after giving effect to such payments.

On May 5, 2011, we entered into Amendment No. duoPrivate Shelf Agreement (the “Amendment”).
The Amendment principally provides the followingaciges to the Shelf Agreement:
« elimination of the security interest in our perdgmaperty and subsidiarie
e an amendment to the maximum leverage ratio tgreater than 3.00 toftr any period ending on or after March 31, 2(
e an amendment to our restriction regarding the payrokdividends or repurchase of stock to restricfrom paying dividends or repurchasing stoc
after giving effect to such payments, our leveradi® is greater than 2.00 to 1, in such casdiligisuch payments to an amount ranging f&50,00(

to $75,000 during any fiscal year based on ourrBayeratio after giving effect to such payments an

« an amendment to Permitted Acquisitions restricthur ability to make acquisitions, if, after gigi proforma effect to such acquisition, our lever
ratio is greater than 2.75 to 1, in such casdiligiiacquisitions to $25,000 .

On July 24, 2012, we entered into Amendment Nao Bur Private Shelf Agreement (“Amendment No. 2{jich amends the Shelf Agreement.
principal change effected by Amendment No. 2 i&tension of the Issuance Period for Shelf Noteteuthe Shelf Agreement. The Issuance Period
expires on July 24, 2015 .

As of December 31, 2013, there was $20,000 intauttng borrowings under this facility; the $10,0®€ries A notes issued in March 2011 with a f
interest rate of 4.00% and a 7 year term seriabyuning from 2014 to 2018 ; and the $10,®Xries B notes issued in June 2011 with a fixeerést rate «
4.10% and a 10 year term serially maturing from32@12021 . We were in compliance with all covesaftthe Shelf Agreement as of December 31, 2013 .

The Royal Bank of Scotland Citizens, N.A.

On September 14, 2010, we entered into an overdmaflity with The Royal Bank of Scotland Citizenl.A. in the amount of 2,00&uros o
approximately $2,757 . There was no balance oulstgron this facility as of December 31, 2013 .

HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited, Shanghai Branch

On June 20, 2012, we entered into a banking faeilith the HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited, ShiaaigBranch in the amount of $5,000here wa
$1,500 in outstanding borrowings on this facilisya December 31, 2013 , with a fixed interest cdtg.1% .

Notes Payabl

On May 31, 2011, we incurred $1,500debt related to installment payments due tdfeheer owners of Water Star in connection with aaquisition o



Water Star, of which none remains outstanding d3ezember 31, 2013 .
Collateralized Borrowings

Collateralized borrowings represent deferred splegeeds on certain leasing transactions with 4hindy leasing companies. These transaction
accounted for as borrowings, with the related assapitalized as property, plant and equipmentdemieciated straight-line over the lease term.

Capital Lease Obligations

Capital lease obligations outstanding are primardjated to sale-leaseback transactions with théndy leasing companies whereby we sell
manufactured equipment to the leasing company eaeklit back. The equipment covered by these I&asested to our customers over the lease term.
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The aggregate maturities of our outstanding debt ioluding capital lease obligations as of December 32013, are as follows:

2014 $ 4,71¢
2015 4,215
2016 4,07¢
2017 3,94(
2018 13,67¢
Thereafter 4,54¢
Total minimum obligations $ 35,18(
Less: amount representing interest (3,377)
Total $ 31,80:

9. Other Current Liabilities

Other Current Liabilities as of December 31, consied of the following:

2013 2012

Taxes, other than income taxes $ 6,565 $ 4,76¢
Warranty 9,66: 9,351
Deferred revenue 2,30: 1,87¢
Rebates 7,647 6,98:
Freight 4,59:¢ 3,99¢
Miscellaneous accrued expenses 8,49: 8,11¢
Other 4,81 3,744
Total $ 44,07¢  $ 38,84«

The changes in warranty reserves for the three yearended December 31 were as follows:

2013 2012 2011

Beginning balance $ 9351 $ 8,75¢ $ 7,04:
Product warranty provision 10,64¢ 12,39¢ 12,81¢
(Divested) acquired reserves — (236) 10
Foreign currency (48) (15 (63)
Claims paid (10,295 (11,54¢) (11,04¢)
Ending balance $ 9,66: $ 9,357 $ 8,75¢
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10. Fair Value Measurement:

Estimates of fair value for financial assets anthrficial liabilities are based on the framework ldighed in the accounting guidance for fair vi
measurements. The framework defines fair valueyiges guidance for measuring fair value and reguiertain disclosures. The framework disct
valuation techniques, such as the market appraaahgarable market prices), the income approactséptevalue of future income or cash flow) and tos
approach (cost to replace the service capacitynohsset or replacement cost). The framework usiliaefair value hierarchy that prioritizes the irgtd
valuation techniques used to measure fair valuetimee broad levels. The following is a brief dgst@n of those three levels:

e Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted priceadjusted) in active markets for identical assetmbilities.

e Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that dxseovable for the asset or liability, either dihear indirectly. These include quoted prices fonigar
assets or liabilities in active markets and quqieces for identical or similar assets or liabdiiin markets that are not active.

e Level 3: Unobservable inputs that reflect theorting entitys own assumptior

Our population of assets and liabilities subject tdair value measurements at December 31, 2013 isfafiows:

Fair
Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Foreign currency forward exchange contracts $ 16 $ — 16 $ —
Total Assets $ 16 $ — 16 $ =
Liabilities:
Foreign currency forward exchange contracts $ 10¢ $ — 9 10¢ $ =
Total Liabilities $ 10¢ % — 3 10¢ $ —

Our foreign currency forward exchange contractsvateed based on quoted forward foreign exchanigepat the reporting date.

We use derivative instruments to manage exposarseign currency only in an attempt to limit ungiang exposures from currency fluctuations anc
for trading purposes. Gains or losses on forwaréifm exchange contracts to economically hedgeigoreurrencydenominated assets and liabilities
recognized in Other Current Assets and Other Culriilities within the Consolidated Balance Stseahd are recognized in Other Income (Expense)r
Net Foreign Currency Transaction (Losses) Gainkiwithe Consolidated Statements of Earnings. ADecember 31, 2018he fair value of such contra
outstanding was an asset of $16 and a liabilit$1dfo . As of December 31, 2012 the fair value ehstontracts outstanding was an asset of $8@88a liability
of $404 . We recognized a net gain of $1,068 dugi@g3 , a net gain of $1,026 during 2012 and dasstof $1,444 during 2011 . At December 31, 2848
2012, the notional amounts of foreign currencyvimd exchange contracts outstanding were $30,28%42,475 , respectively.

The carrying amounts reported in the Consolidatathfe Sheets for Cash and Cash Equivalents, &edtiCash, Receivables, Other Current As
Short-Term Debt, Accounts Payable and Other Culridtilities approximate fair value due to theioshterm nature.

The fair market value of our LonBerm Debt approximates cost, based on the borrovétes currently available to us for bank loanswgimilar term
and remaining maturities.
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11. Retirement Benefit Plan:

Substantially all U.S. employees are covered biouarretirement benefit plans, including defineddfé pension plans, posttirement medical plans &
defined contribution savings plans. Retirement Eenfor eligible employees in foreign locationedunded principally through defined benefit plaasnuity
or government programs. The total cost of benédit®ur plans was $11,766 , $11,192 and $11,22D#8 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

We have a qualified, funded defined benefit reteatmplan (the “U.S. Pension Plan) the U.S. covering certain current and retirecblayees. Pla
benefits are based on the years of service and eosagion during the highest five consecutive ye&iservice in the final ten years of employment. idm
participants have entered the plan since 2000 plrehas 442 participants including 90 active elygds as of December 31, 2013 .

We have a U.S. postretirement medical benefit filam “U.S. Retiree Planp provide certain healthcare benefits for U.S. leyges hired before Janu
1, 1999. Eligibility for those benefits is basednm combination of years of service with Tennamt age upon retirement.

Our defined contribution savings plan (“401(k)")veos substantially all U.S. employees. Under théspwe match up to 3% of the employeannue
compensation in cash to be invested per theirielectVe also make a profit sharing contributiorttte 401(k) plan for employees with more than gear o
service in accordance with our Profit Sharing PTEms contribution is based upon our financial perfance and can be funded in the form of Tennack;
cash or a combination of both. Expenses for th€ld@lan were $6,423 , $6,226 and $6,864 durindg3202012 and 2011 , respectively.

We have a U.S. nonqualified supplemental benefib gthe “U.S. Nonqualified Plan'ip provide additional retirement benefits for certamployee
whose benefits under our 401(k) plan or U.S. PenBian are limited by either the Employee Retirenhecome Security Act or the Internal Revenue Code.

We also have defined pension benefit plans in th#eld Kingdom and Germany (the “U.K. Pension Pland the “German Pension PlanThe U.K
Pension Plan and German Pension Plan cover cetaient and retired employees and both plans asedlto new participants.

On March 23, 2010, the Patient Protection and Affibte Care Act (the “PPACA'\as signed into law, and, on March 30, 2010, thaltdieCare an
Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (the “HCERANd together with PPACA, the “Acts”)yhich makes various amendments to certain aspédtse
PPACA, was signed into law. The Acts effectivelyanbe the tax treatment of federal subsidies pagbtmsors of retiree health benefit plans that ide
prescription drug benefits that are at least a@liarequivalent to the corresponding benefits jded under Medicare Part D. Under the Acts, an eyegls
income tax deduction for the costs of providing Made Part Dequivalent prescription drug benefits to retiredl ve reduced by the amount of the fed
subsidy beginning in 2013. Under U.S. GAAP, any actpfrom a change in tax law must be recognizedaimings in the period enacted regardless ¢
effective date. The Acts did not have a materigdaot on our financial position or results of opienag.

We expect to contribute approximately $149 to ou8.WNonqualified Plan, $919 to our U.S. RetireenP$237 to our U.K. Pension Plan and $dlbui
German Pension Plan in 2014 . dlntributions to the U.S. Pension Plan are expecida required during 2014. There were no contidos made to the U.

Pension Plan during 2013. During 2012, we made % 08D discretionary contribution to the U.S. Pension Pianaddition to the minimum fundil
requirements for 2011 and 2012.

Weighted-average asset allocations by asset categorf the U.S. and U.K. Pension Plans as of Decemt&t, 2013 are as follows:

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Assets Observable Inputs ~ Unobservable Inputs
Asset Category Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 746 $ 746 $ — 3 =
Mutual Funds:
U.S. Large-Cap 20,59 20,59 — —
U.S. Small-Cap 6,971 6,971 — —
International Equities 6,32¢ 6,32¢ — —
Fixed-Income Domestic 17,75¢ 17,75¢ — —
Investment Account held by Pension Pfan 9,73: — — 9,73:
Total $ 62,13( $ 52,397 $ — 9,73:

(1) This category is comprised of investments in insceacontract
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Weighted-average asset allocations by asset categof the U.S. and U.K. Pension Plans as of Decemtit, 2012 are as follows:

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Assets Observable Inputs  Unobservable Inputs

Asset Category Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 701 $ 701 $ — % =
Equity Securities:

U.S. Small-Cap 1,43¢ 1,43¢ — —

U.S. Mid-Cap 2,26¢ 2,26¢ — —

International Small-Cap 63 63 — —
Mutual Funds:

Corporate Bonds 18,67 18,67: — —

U.S. Large-Cap 18,14 18,14: — —

International Large-Cap 5,662 5,662 — —
Investment Account held by Pension Plan 8,85¢ — — 8,85¢
Total $ 55,797 $ 46,94: $ — 8,85¢

(1) This category is comprised of investments in insceacontract

Estimates of the fair value of U.S. and U.K Pensilan assets are based on the framework establishtftt accounting guidance for fair va
measurements. A brief description of the threeltegan be found in Note 10. Equity Securities anatidl Funds traded in active markets are classék
Level 1. The Investment Account held by Pensiom Riaests in insurance contracts for purposes mdlifg the U.K. Pension Plan and are classifiedeag
3. The fair value of the Investment Account are ¢hsh surrender values as determined by the prowidieh are the amounts the plan would receivéd
contracts were cashed out at year end. The undgrissets held by these contracts are primarilgsired in assets traded in active markets.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balanes of the Level 3 investments of our U.K. Pensiorid during the years ended are as follows:

2013 2012
Fair value at beginning of year $ 8,85t $ 7,73¢
Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements, net 74 —
Net gain 601 73¢
Foreign currency 20z 37¢
Fair value at end of year $ 9,73t % 8,85¢

The primary objective of our U.S. and U.K. Pendilans is to meet retirement income commitmentddo participants at a reasonable cost to us &
maintain a sound actuarially funded status. Thjeailve is accomplished through growth of capitad @afety of funds invested. The pension plangtass
invested in securities to achieve growth of capiedr inflation through appreciation and accumolatand reinvestment of dividend and interest inc
Investments are diversified to control risk. Thegéd allocation for the U.S. Pension Plan is 60%itgcand 40%debt securities. Equity securities within

U.S. Pension Plan do not include any direct investisiin Tennant Company Common Stock. The U.K. iBerBlan is invested

in insurance contracts

underlying investments primarily in equity and fixemcome securities. Our German Pension Plan isngefd, which is customary in that country.

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine bdn@bligations as of December 31, are as follows:

Non-U.S. Postretirement
U.S. Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Medical Benefits
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Discount rate 4.62% 3.7% 4.3% 4.41% 4.1(% 3.21%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0(% 3.00% 4.5(% 4.5(% — —
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine natriodic benefit costs as of December 31, are agléovs:

Non-U.S. Postretirement
U.S. Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Medical Benefits
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Discount rate 3.7% 4.3% 5.3% 4.41% 494%  5.3% 3.21% 4.2(% 5.0(%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 6.5(% 7.7(% 7.7% 4.7(% 4.8(% 5.2(% — — —
Rate of compensation increase 3.0(% 3.0(% 3.0(% 4.5(% 4.6(% 5.1(% — — —

The discount rate is used to discount future bemdfigations back to today’s dollars. Our discouaies were determined based on higiladity fixec
income investments. The resulting discount rates camsistent with the duration of plan liabilitieehe Citigroup Above Median Spot Rate is use
determining the discount rate for the U.S. Plaris €xpected return on assets assumption on thetingat portfolios for the pension plans is basedha
longterm expected returns for the investment mix oetssurrently in the portfolio. Management usesohis return trends of the asset portfolio comb
with recent market conditions to estimate the feitate of return.

The accumulated benefit obligations as of Decemb@d, for all defined benefit plans, are as follows:

2013 2012
U.S. Pension Plans $ 42,24: % 46,907
U.K. Pension Plan 9,80z 8,83
German Pension Plan 897 87¢

Information for our plans with an accumulated beneft obligation in excess of plan assets as of Deceent81, is as follows:

2013 2012
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 12,77¢  $ 3,261
Fair value of plan assets 9,73: _

As of December 31, 201,3he U.S. Nonqualified, the U.K. Pension and tlegrian Pension Plans had an accumulated benefifatibin in excess of pl;
assets. As of December 31, 2012 , the U.S. Norfigehlind the German Pension Plans had an accurdidatefit obligation in excess of plan assets.

Information for our plans with a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets as of Decemi3dr, is as follows:

2013 2012
Projected benefit obligation $ 13,48. $ 12,59
Fair value of plan assets 9,73: 8,85t

As of December 31, 2013 and 201the U.S. Nonqualified, the U.K. Pension and tleen@an Pension Plans had a projected benefit oldigat excess «
plan assets.

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates as of Deceml&t, are as follows:

2013 2012
Healthcare cost trend rate assumption for the yeaxt 8.3(% 9.17%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed tlingegthe ultimate trend rate) 5.0(% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2031 2031

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a signifeffect on the amounts reported for healthckaesp To illustrate, a one-percentgg@nt change i
assumed healthcare cost trends would have theniolipeffects:



Point Point

Decrease Increase
Effect on total of service and interest cost conguis $ (46) $ 52
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $ (930 $ 1,05(
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Summaries related to changes in benefit obligationand plan assets and to the funded status of our figed benefit and postretirement medice
benefit plans are as follows:

Non-U.S. Postretirement

U.S. Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Medical Benefits

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Changein benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 4882 $ 4428 $ 10,01 $ 8,77t % 14,09C $ 13,70¢
Service cost 69C 68€ 14z 13¢ 154 142
Interest cost 1,80¢ 1,92¢ 427 437 443 551
Plan participants' contributions — — 23 24 — —
Actuarial (gain) loss (4,907 3,89: 66¢ 59t (1,007 92¢
Foreign exchange — — 26& 411 — —
Benefits paid (2,769 (1,969 (299) (369 (500 (1,237
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 43,65: $ 48,82: $ 11,23t  $ 10,01 $ 13,18¢ $ 14,09(
Changein fair value of plan assets and net accrued liabilities:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 46,94: $ 28,237 $ 8,85 % 7,73 % — 3 —
Actual return on plan assets 7,821 3,81¢ 601 73€ — —
Employer contributions 391 16,85( 343 34¢ 50C 1,237
Plan participants' contributions — — 23 24 — —
Foreign exchange — — 204 37¢ — —
Benefits paid (2,769 (1,969) (299) (369 (500 (1,237
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 52,391 46,94: 9,73% 8,85k — —
Funded status at end of year $ 8,74« % (1,882 $ (1,509 $ (1,156) $ (13,18¢ $ (14,090
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of:
Noncurrent Other Assets $ 1098 $ 69¢ $ — 3 — 3 — 3 —
Current Liabilities (149 (145 (41) (39) (919 (9049)
Long-Term Liabilities (2,099 (2,43%) (1,462 (1,117 (12,267 (13,18¢)
Net accrued asset (liability) $ 8,74« % (1,882 $ (1,508 $ (1,156 $ (13,18¢ $ (14,090
Amounts recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss consist of:
Prior service (cost) credit $ (152 $ 229 $ — 3 — 3 6 $ 10¢
Net actuarial loss (2,149 (13,71) (704 (24¢€) (1,587 (2,789
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss $ (2,299 % (13,939 $ (704 $ (246) $ (1,58) $ (2,680)

The components of the net periodic benefit cost fahe three years ended December 31, were as follows

Non-U.S. Postretirement
U.S. Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Medical Benefits
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Service cost $ 69C $ 68 $ 651 $ 14z $ 13 $ 13¢ $ 154 $ 14z $ 13z
Interest cost 1,802 1,92¢ 2,01: 422 437 46¢ 442 551 61z
Expected return on plan assets (2,91)) (2,279 (2,325 (402) (387) (37¢€) — — —
Amortization of net actuarial loss 1,751 1,131 27 9 — — 201 57 —
Amortization of prior service cost 73 382 55C — — — (203 (580) (580)
Foreign currency — — — 21 16 (18 — — —
Net periodic benefit cost $ 1406 $ 1,846 $ 91€ $ 192 $ 204 $ 204 $ 69t $ 17 $ 164
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The changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loder the three years ended December 31, were asléol's:

Non-U.S. Postretirement
U.S. Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Medical Benefits
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Prior service cost $ — 3 — $ 23 3 — 5 — 3 — 5 — 3 — 3 =
Net actuarial (gain) loss (9,817 2,35¢ 6,18¢ 467 244 (300 (1,007 92¢ 72
Amortization of prior service cost 73 (382 (550 — — — 10z 58( 58C
Amortization of net actuarial loss (1,757 (1,139 27) 9 — — (201 (57 —
Total recognized in other comprehensive

income $(11,64) $ 841 $ 584C $ 456 $ 244 $ (300) $ (1,099 $ 1.44¢ $ 652
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost

and other comprehensive income $(10,23Y) $ 2,68 $ 6,75¢ $ 65 $ 44 $ (9€) $ (4049 $ 161¢ $  81l€

The following benefit payments, which reflect expeed future service, are expected to be paid for oud.S. and Non-U.S. plans:

U.S. Pension Non-U.S. Postretirement

Benefits Pension Benefits Medical Benefits
2014 $ 2,021 % 30 $ 91¢
2015 2,35: 31¢ 1,02¢
2016 2,53t 32¢ 1,05t
2017 2,68: 33¢ 1,10¢
2018 2,80¢ 35C 1,091
2019 to 2023 15,087 1,91¢ 5,34¢
Total $ 27,48¢ $ 3,561 $ 10,54¢

The following amounts are included in Accumulated @her Comprehensive Loss as of December 31, 2048d are expected to be recognized
components of net periodic benefit cost during 2014

Postretirement
Pension Medical
Benefits Benefits

Net actuarial loss $ 18t $ 43
Prior service cost (credit) 43 (6)
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12. Shareholders' Equity
Authorized Share

We are authorized to issue an aggregate of 61,00G0ares; 60,000,000 are designated as Commok, 8gdng a par value of $0.3F®r share, ar
1,000,000 are designated as Preferred Stock, havipgr value of $0.0@er share. The Board of Directors is authorizegdtblish one or more series
preferred stock, setting forth the designationaaftesuch series, and fixing the relative rights arederences of each such series.

Purchase Right

On November 10, 2006, the Board of Directors appdoa Rights Agreement and declared a dividend efpveferred share purchase right for €
outstanding share of Common Stock. Each rightlesatthe registered holder to purchase from us oedondredth of a Series A Junior Participating Preft
Share of the par value of $0.02 per share at @ mfiic100 per one hundredefi a Preferred Share, subject to adjustment. Tgtgtgiare not exercisable
transferable apart from the Common Stock untiléhdier of: (i) the close of business on the fiftgeday following a public announcement that a persi
group of affiliated or associated persons has becam“Acquiring Person”i.e., has become, subject to certain exceptiom$yding for stock ownership |
employee benefit plans, the beneficial owner of 20%nore of the outstanding Common Stock), or (ig tlose of business on the fifteenth day followtimg
first public announcement of a tender offer or exae offer the consummation of which would resulaiperson or group of affiliated or associatedqe
becoming, subject to certain exceptions, the beiafdwner of 20%or more of the outstanding Common Stock (or sutdr ldate as may be determined by
Board of Directors prior to a person or group diliated or associated persons becoming an AcagiRarson). After a person or group becomes an Aiog
Person, each holder of a Right (other than an AoguPerson) will be able to exercise the righthat current exercise price of the Right and recttieenumbe
of shares of Common Stock having a market valugvoftimes the exercise price of the right, or, defieg upon the circumstances in which the rightsab®
exercisable, the number of common shares of thaiiiog Person having a market value of two times eéRercise price of the right. At no time do thghtt
have any voting power. We may redeem the rightsp001 per right at any time prior to a persorga@up acquiring 20%r more of the Common Stor
Under certain circumstances, the Board of Directoay exchange the rights for our Common Stock duce the 20% thresholds to not less than 10%%e
rights will expire on December 26, 2016 , unleserded or earlier redeemed or exchanged by us.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive L

Components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Lossiet of tax, within the Consolidated Balance Sheetand Statements of Shareholder
Equity as of December 31, are as follows:

2013 2012 2011
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ (21,99) $ (19,739 $ (20,289
Pension and retiree medical benefits (2,980 (10,599 (8,959
Total Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss $ (24,97) $ (30,33) $ (29,23))

The changes in components of Accumulated Other Comghensive Loss, net of tax, are as follows:

Foreign Currency

Translation Pension and Post

Adjustments Retirement Benefits Total
December 31, 2012 $ (19,739 $ (10,599 $ (30,33))
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifins (2,257) 6,40¢ 4,151
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated Other Compredfive Loss — 1,211 1,211
Net current period other comprehensive (loss) ircom (2,257 7,61¢ 5,362
December 31, 2013 $ (21,99) $ (2,980 $ (24,97

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss associatddpeitsion and postretirement benefits are incluniébte 11.
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13. Commitments and Contingencie

We lease office and warehouse facilities, vehieleg office equipment under operating lease agretsnesich include both monthly and longersr
arrangements. Leases with initial terms of one ysamore expire at various dates through 2@8@ generally provide for extension options. Reqieas
under the leasing agreements (exclusive of reateesixes, insurance and other expenses payat®ge ihedleases) amounted to $17,873 , $17,5244A87!
in 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

The minimum rentals for aggregate lease commitmentas of December 31, 2013, were as follows:

2014 $ 8,39¢
2015 5,37¢
2016 3,12¢
2017 1,892
2018 77€
Thereafter 311
Total $ 19,88¢

Certain operating leases for vehicles contain tedidalue guarantee provisions, which would becalue at the expiration of the operating le
agreement if the fair value of the leased vehiddsss than the guaranteed residual value. Theeggte residual value at lease expiration of theases i
$11,741 , of which we have guaranteed $7,659 .fAgcember 31, 2013 , we have recorded a lialfiitythe estimated end-aérm loss related to this resid
value guarantee of $398r certain vehicles within our fleet. Our fleesalcontains vehicles we estimate will settle aam.gGains on these vehicles will
recognized at the end of the lease term.

During the first quarter of 2013, we renewed oasstefor our Louisville facility. This lease haswefyear term with a total commitment of $4,710 .

During the second quarter of 2012, we entered anthree year agreement with a supplier, commengamgary 1, 2013 with a total commitment
$2,102 of which $1,306 remains outstanding as aeber 31, 2013 .

In the ordinary course of business, we may becdael with respect to pending and threatened titga tax, environmental and other matters. WHik
ultimate results of current claims, investigati@msl lawsuits involving us are unknown at this tive, do not expect that these matters will have teria
adverse effect on our consolidated financial positir results of operations. Legal costs associattdsuch matters are expensed as incurred.
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14. Income Taxe:!

Income from continuing operations for the three yees ended December 31, was as follows:

2013 2012 2011
U.S. operations $ 54,70: $ 47.22( $ 40,28:
Foreign operations 5,17¢ 12,67( 8,44¢
Total $ 59,87¢ $ 59,89 $ 48,73(
Income tax expense (benefit) for the three years dad December 31, was as follows:
2013 2012 2011

Current:

Federal $ 1355 $ 8,15¢ $ 10,32:

Foreign 3,567 4,63: 2,271

State 1,13¢ 1,08¢ 1,45(

$ 18,25 $ 13,88( $ 14,04¢

Deferred:

Federal $ 185¢ $ 4,42°  $ 2,33(

Foreign (424 (12€) (20%)

State (39) 12¢ (15¢)

$ 139 4,42¢ $ 1,96¢

Total:

Federal $ 15,407 $ 12,58: % 12,65

Foreign 3,14z 4,507 2,07¢

State 1,097 1,21¢ 1,292
Total Income Tax Expense $ 19,647 $ 18,30¢ $ 16,017

U.S. income taxes have not been provided on appately $23,596 of undistributed earnings of nd®. subsidiaries. We do not have any plar
repatriate the undistributed earnings. Any reptdmafrom foreign subsidiaries that would resultimcremental U.S. taxation is not being consideteds
management’s belief that reinvesting these earrongside the U.S. is the most efficient use of &dpi

We have Dutch and German tax loss carryforwardmpfoximately $18,046 and $15,6,7#espectively. If unutilized, the Dutch tax lossryforward wil
expire after 9 years The German tax loss carryforward has no expinatiate. Because of the uncertainty regarding @iz of the Dutch tax lo
carryforward, a valuation allowance was establisfi¢ais valuation allowance increased in 2013 duesalts of operations.

We have U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards opraimately $3,157 . If unutilized, foreign tax diecarryforwards will expire in 2020Based upc
evaluation, as of December 31, 2013 , no valuagitowance has been recorded. We have Dutch forigrecredit carryforwards of $922Because of tt
uncertainty regarding utilization of the Dutch figne tax credit carryforward, a valuation allowaneas established.

A valuation allowance for the remaining deferrexl &@sets is not required since it is more likelntimot that they will be realized through carrybéa
taxable income in prior years, future reversalexa$ting taxable temporary differences and futaseble income.

Our effective income tax rate varied from the U.Sfederal statutory tax rate for the three years endd December 31, as follows:

2013 2012 2011
Tax at statutory rate 35.C% 35.(% 35.C%
Increases (decreases) in the tax rate from:
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit 1.7 1.C 2.C
Effect of foreign operations (3.9 (6.2 0.t
Effect of changes in valuation allowances 3.7 2.3 —

Domestic production activities deduction (1.6 (2.5 (1.6



Other, net 2.7) — 3.0

Effective income tax rate 32.8% 30.€% 32.¢%
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities were comprisedf the following as of December 31:

2013 2012 2011

Deferred Tax Assets:

Inventories, principally due to additional costgantoried for tax purposes and changes in inventory

reserves $ —  $ 28 % 42¢

Employee wages and benefits, principally due tawsds for financial reporting purposes 14,83: 18,60¢ 20,91(

Warranty reserves accrued for financial reportingppses 2,80: 2,641 2,62t

Receivables, principally due to allowance for déwitdccounts and tax accounting method for equign

rentals 1,59¢ 1,54( 1,46<

Tax loss carryforwards 8,69¢ 6,61¢ 5,91t

Tax credit carryforwards 4,07¢ 6,72( 8,55¢

Other 2,52¢ 2,32¢ 1,777
Gross Deferred Tax Assets $ 34,52: $ 38,48: $ 41,67:

Less: valuation allowance (7,249 (4,719 (3,229
Total Net Deferred Tax Assets $ 27,28. $ 33,766 $ 38,44:
Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Inventories, principally due to changes in inveptaserves $ 306 % — 3 =

Property, Plant and Equipment, principally dueiftedences in depreciation and related gains 7,44¢ 7,94 9,167

Goodwill and Intangible Assets 6,25:% 6,81¢ 7,09:
Total Deferred Tax Liabilities $ 14,00¢ $ 14,76:  $ 16,26(
Net Deferred Tax Assets $ 13,27¢  $ 19,00¢ $ 22,18:

The valuation allowance at December 31, 2013 graibi applies to Dutch tax loss and tax credit yfamvards that, in the opinion of management
more likely than not to expire unutilized. Howevtr,the extent that tax benefits related to theseytorwards are realized in the future, the reiuncin the
valuation allowance will reduce income tax expense.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounbdf unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

2013 2012
Balance at January 1, $ 348( $ 3,42¢
Increases as a result of tax positions taken dwaipgor period 15¢ —
Increases as a result of tax positions taken duhegurrent year 50¢ 611
Reductions as a result of a lapse of the applicsthkaite of limitations (295) (447)
Decreases as a result of foreign currency fluatnati (18¢) (208¢)
Balance at December 31, $ 366( $ 3,48(

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax bemefitDecember 31, 2013 and 2012 are potential ieméf$3,384 and $3,259respectively, that
recognized, would affect the effective tax raterfroontinuing operations.

We recognize potential accrued interest and pesalélated to unrecognized tax benefits as a coempari income tax expense. In addition to the ligt
of $3,660 and $3,480 for unrecognized tax benafitef December 31, 2013 and 2012 was approxim@fd$ and $462 respectively, for accrued interest
penalties. To the extent interest and penaltieateassessed with respect to uncertain tax posititne amounts accrued will be revised and refteess a
adjustment to income tax expense.

We are subject to U.S. federal income tax as welhaome tax of numerous state and foreign jurisiis. We are generally no longer subject to
federal tax examinations for taxable years bef@El2and, with limited exceptions, state and foréigrome tax examinations for taxable years bef@72

We are currently undergoing income tax examinationgrious state and foreign jurisdictions covgr2007 to 2011. Although the final outcome of tt
examinations cannot be currently determined, wizbelthat we have adequate reserves with respéoese examinations.

We do not anticipate that total unrecognized teneffies will change significantly within the next H2onths.



42




Table of Contents
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except shares and per share data)
15. ShareBased Compensatio

We have five plans under which we have awardedesbased compensation grants: The 1995 Stock IwveeRtan (“1995 Plan"and 1999 Amended a
Restated Stock Incentive Plan (*1999 Plan”), whirbvided for share-based compensation grants toegacutives and key employees, the 1997 No
Employee Directors Option Plan (“1997 Plan”), whistovided for stock option grants to our non-empirectors, the 2007 Stock Incentive Pla20(
Plan”) and the Amended and Restated 2010 StocktiveePlan, as Amended (“2010 Plarmbhich were adopted as a continuing step towardeggging ou
equity compensation programs to reduce the contglekiour equity compensation programs.

The 1995 and 1997 Plans were terminated in 2006adnm@maining shares were transferred to the 1288 as approved by the shareholders in :
Awards granted under the 1995 and 1997 Plans fri@006 that remain outstanding continue to be gwa by the respective plan under which the graat
made. Upon approval of the 1999 Plan in 2006, vese®a making grants of future awards under theses glad subsequent grants of future awards were
from the 1999 Plan and governed by its terms.

The 2007 Plan terminated our rights to grant awardier the 1999 Plan except that the 1999 Planrerifiain available for grants of reload options t
exercise of previously granted options with dimee reload features. We have not granted optiatis neload features since March 1, 2004. Awardyipresly
granted under the 1999 Plan remain outstandingantinue to be governed by the terms of that plan.

The 2010 Plan, originally approved by our sharefiddn April 28, 2010 and amended and restatedibglareholders on April 25, 2012, terminatec
rights to grant awards under the 2007 Plan; howeargr awards granted under the 2007 or 2010 Phleigdb not result in the issuance of shares of Caon
Stock may again be used for an award under the P0dfd The 2010 Plan was amended and restatedrbghaveholders on April 24, 2013, increasing
number of shares available under the amended 2@htfil®m 1,500,000 shares to 2,600,000 shares.

As of December 31, 2013 , there were 499,848res reserved for issuance under the 1995 Rlari 997 Plan, the 1999 Plan and the 2007 Ple
outstanding compensation awards and 1,643sBé4des were available for issuance under the 2&0fér current and future equity awards. The Comspéor
Committee of the Board of Directors determinesrtimber of shares awarded and the grant date, subjde terms of our equity award policy.

We recognized total Share-Based Compensation Eepas6,116 , $9,092 and $5,407 , respectivelyinduhe years ended 2013 , 2012 and 20The
total excess tax benefit recognized for share-basetpensation arrangements during the years er@k®i , 22012 and 2011 was $5,178 , $2,047 and $1,26
respectively.

Stock Option Awards

We determined the fair value of our stock optioraa¥s using the Blac&choles valuation model that uses the assumptiotesirin the table below. T
expected life selected for stock options grantednduthe year represents the period of time thatdtock options are expected to be outstandingdba
historical data of stock option holder exercise terthination behavior of similar grants. The risé&e interest rate for periods within the contrattife of the
stock option is based on the U.S. Treasury rate theeexpected life at the time of grant. Expeacteldtilities are based upon historical volatilitf @ur stocl
over a period equal to the expected life of eaohksoption grant. Dividend yield is estimated otrex expected life based on our dividend policy histbrica
dividends paid. We use historical data to estinpagevesting forfeiture rates and revise those estimatesibsequent periods if actual forfeitures diffem
those estimates.

The following table illustrates the valuation assumtions used for the 2013 , 2012 and 2011 grants:

2013 2012 2011
Expected volatility 51% 51 -52% 49 - 50%
Weighted-average expected volatility 51% 52% 49%
Expected dividend yield 1.6% 16-1.7% 1.7-1.8%
Weighted-average expected dividend yield 1.6% 1.7% 1.8%
Expected term, in years 6 0.2-6 6
Risk-free interest rate 09-1.1% 0.1-1.1% 1.3-25%

Employee stock option awards prior to 2005 incladeeload feature for options granted to key emmeyd his feature allows employees to exe
options through a stock-f@tock exercise using mature shares, and employegganted a new stock option (reload option) etuahe number of shares
Common Stock used to satisfy both the exerciseemithe option and the minimum tax withholdinguiggments. The reload options granted have an
price equal to the fair market value of the ComrBtock on the grant date. Stock options granteaimjunction with reloads vest immediately and havera
equal to the remaining life of the initial granbi@pensation expense is fully recognized for reltadk options as of the reload date.

Beginning in 2004, new stock option awards granest one-third each year over a three year pendchave a tegear contractual term. These grant
not contain a reload feature. Compensation expegsal to the grant date fair value is recognizedtfese awards over the vesting period.

In addition to stock options, we also occasionglignt cash-settled stock appreciation rights (“SARs employees in certain foreign locations. TI



were no outstanding SARs as of December 31, 20d3ar5ARs were granted during 2013, 2012 or 2011 .
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The following table summarizes the activity duringthe year ended December 31, 2013 for stock optiomwards:

Weighted-Average

Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 1,191,42. $ 24.1¢
Granted 142,75! 46.9¢
Exercised (445,26¢) 18.61%
Forfeited (11,58¢) 42.3¢
Outstanding at end of year 877,32 $ 30.42
Exercisable at end of year 601,74 $ 23.8¢

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stquions granted during the years ended Decemhe2@®@1 , 2012 and 2011 was $19.62 , $1&60
$16.67 , respectively. The total intrinsic valuestdck options exercised during the years ende@mber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $15,641 , $&826
$5,600 , respectively. The aggregate intrinsic @alfioptions outstanding and exercisable at Deceihe2013 was $32,805 and $26,42@spectively. Tt
weighted-average remaining contractual life forimm outstanding and exercisable as of DecembeR@®l3 , was 7 years andy@ars, respectively. As
December 31, 2013 , there was unrecognized comipemsast for nonvested options of $3,102 whiclexpected to be recognized over a weigtaeerag
period of 1.6 years.

Restricted Share Awards

Restricted share awards for employees generallg laathree year vesting period from the effectivie dd the grant. Restricted share awards to no
employee directors vest upon a change of contrapon termination of service as a director occgrah least six months after grant date of the awartbng
as termination is for one of the following reasodsath; disability; retirement in accordance witnfant policy (e.g., age, term limits, etc.); rasigpn a
request of Board (other than for gross miscondueijgnation following at least six monthatlvance notice; failure to be renominated (unless d
unwillingness to serve) or reelected by sharehsldmrremoval by shareholders.

The following table summarizes the activity duringthe year ended December 31, 2013, for nonvestedécted share awards:

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair

Shares Value
Nonvested at beginning of year 142,35:  $ 33.4C
Granted 34,50¢ 48.0¢
Vested (24,86¢) 26.0¢
Forfeited (1,059 40.02
Nonvested at end of year 150,94: $ 37.8¢

The total fair value of shares vested during theryended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $&&8B1 and $65Q respectively. As
December 31, 2013 , there was $1,993 of total wgrzed compensation cost related to nonveste@shwrich is expected to be recognized over a weilght
average period of 2.1 years.

Performance Share Awards

We grant performance share awards to key emplagaspart of our lonterm management compensation program. These aagrdsarned based ug
achievement of certain financial performance ta@eer a three year period. We determine the firesof these awards as of the date of grant arajnéze
the expense over a thrgear performance period. Performance shares argegran restricted stock units. They are payablstotk and vest solely up
achievement of certain financial performance targeiring this three year period.

The 2013 performance share award covers the fleaeperformance period from the beginning of fisear 2013 to the end of fiscal year 2015.
2012 performance share award covers the thieae performance period from the beginning of figezar 2012 to the end of fiscal year 2014. Thel
performance share award covered the three yearrpehce period from the beginning of fiscal yealt 2@ the end of fiscal year 2013.

The 2010 performance share award covered the ffeee performance period from the beginning of fisear 2010 to the end of fiscal year 2(
Performance shares were granted in restricted stoitk. They were paid in cash and vested solebnwgrhievement of certain financial performancget
during this three year period.

In 2009, we granted a combination of stock optiorsjricted stock awards and restricted stock yvatgble in cash to key employees as part o



management compensation program and did not geafarmance share awards. These stock options atricted share awards vested over a three
period and did not contain a performance requireémen
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Share-Based Liabilities

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , we had $292$8r®50 in total sharbased liabilities recorded on our Consolidated Be#aSheets, respective
During the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012@hdl we paid out $3,134 , $2,212 and $506 relmed10, 2009 and 2008 shdrased liability award

respectively.

16. Earnings Per Share

The computations of Basic and Diluted Earnings peBhare for the years ended December 31, were as tolls:

2013 2012 2011
Numerator:
Net Earnings $ 40,23:  $ 4158 $ 32,71:
Denominator:
Basic - Weighted Average Shares Outstanding 18,297,37 18,544,89 18,832,69
Effect of dilutive securities:

Employee stock options 536,08: 557,12( 527,73
Diluted - Weighted Average Shares Outstanding 18,833,45 19,102,01 19,360,422
Basic Earnings per Share $ 22C % 224 % 1.74
Diluted Earnings per Share $ 214 % 218 % 1.6¢

Options to purchase 132,803 , 233,655 and 123,B8&s of Common Stock were outstanding during 2Q4@RL2 and 2011 respectively, but were r
included in the computation of diluted earnings glesire. These exclusions are made if the exerdisespof these options are greater than the averagke
price of our Common Stock for the period, if therher of shares we can repurchase under the tresmaly method exceeds the weighted shares outsg

in the options, or if we have a net loss, as tifecef are anti-dilutive.

17. Segment Reporting

We are organized into fowperating segments: North America; Latin Americardpe, Middle East, Africa; and Asia Pacific. Wardzne our Nort
America and Latin America operating segments ih® ‘tAmericas”for reporting Net Sales by geographic area. In atanmce with the objective and be
principles of the applicable accounting guidance,aggregate our operating segments into one rég@teagment that consists of the design, manufaetou

sale of products used primarily in the maintenasfagonresidential surfaces.

The following table presents Net Sales by operatingegment for the years ended December 31:

2013 2012 2011
Net Sales:
Americas $ 514,54 $ 491,66. $ 481,42¢
Europe, Middle East, Africa 157,20¢ 166,20¢ 188,33¢
Asia Pacific 80,25¢ 81,11 84,23¢
Total $ 752,01: $ 738,98( $ 753,99¢
The following table presents long lived assets byerating segment as of December 31.:
2013 2012 2011
Long-lived assets:
Americas $ 106,40¢ $ 100,66: $ 100,84
Europe, Middle East, Africa 28,29¢ 31,16« 31,12¢
Asia Pacific 3,88 4,49¢ 5,18:
Total $ 138,58 $ 136,32! $ 137,15:




45




Table of Contents
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except shares and per share data)

Accounting policies of the operations in the vas@perating segments are the same as those desicrilete 1 of the Consolidated Financial Staters
Net Sales are attributed to each operating segtresed on the country from which the product is ghipand are net of intercompany sales. Inform
regarding sales to customers geographically locatéde United States is provided in Item 1, BusthneSegment and Geographic Area Financial Informe
No single customer represents more than 10% of owsatiolated Net Sales. Loriyed assets consist of Property, Plant and Equign@oodwill, Intangibl
Assets and certain other assets.

The following table presents revenues for groups @limilar products and services for the years endeBecember 31:

2013 2012 2011

Net Sales:
Equipment $ 44477 $ 435,90( 452,39¢
Parts and consumables 176,44: 175,78: 177,99¢
Service and other 109,53 106,04¢ 100,65(
Specialty surface coatings 21,26: 21,25( 22,95
Total $ 752,01. % 738,98( 753,99¢

18. Consolidated Quarterly Data (Unaudited
2013
Ql Q2 Q3 Q4
Net Sales $ 168,09: $ 200,23t $ 188,54: 195,14(
Gross Profit 72,52 87,74 81,86: 83,78
Net Earnings 5,05¢ 14,25 10,61 10,30:
Basic Earnings per Share $ 0.2¢ % 0.7¢ % 0.5¢ 0.5¢€
Diluted Earnings per Share $ 027 $ 0.7¢ $ 0.5€ 0.5t
2012
Ql Q2 Q3 Q4

Net Sales $ 173,71: $ 199,49 $ 178,26¢ 187,50
Gross Profit 75,31¢ 88,95 77,56 83,46
Net Earnings 5,32¢ 13,67: 8,74~ 13,84«
Basic Earnings per Share $ 0.2¢ % 074 % 047 % 0.7¢
Diluted Earnings per Share $ 0.2¢ % 071 % 0.4€ $ 0.72

The summation of quarterly data may not equatbaaéalculation for the full fiscal year as quastaralculations are performed on a discrete basis.

Regular quarterly dividends aggregated $0.72 paresim 2013 , or $0.18 per share per quarter, 8rtB3per share in 2012 , or $04&r share for the fir
three quarters of 2012 and $0.18 per share fdiotiméh quarter of 2012.

19. Related Party Transaction:

On July 31, 2012, we entered into a share purchgeement with M&F, as further discussed in Not&wo of the M&F shareholders are individuals \
were employed by Tennant prior to the transactimte énd are no longer employed by Tennant as dfahsaction date.

Our May 31, 2011 acquisition of Water Star includesallment payments totaling $1,5@0the former owners of Water Star, as furtherubsed in Noi
4. As of the acquisition date, the former owner$\fter Star were current employees of Tennant.fA3ecember 31, 2013the former owners of Water S
are no longer employees of Tennant.

During the first quarter of 2008, we acquired Sdae Alfa Ltda. and entered into lease agreementseftain properties owned by or partially owng
the former owners of this entity. Some of thesdviddals are current employees of Tennant. Leasenpats made under these lease agreements ¢
material to our financial position or results oeogations.
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ITEM 9 — Changes in and Disagreements with Accountds
on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9A — Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chigkcutive Officel
and our Principal Financial and Accounting Officdrave evaluated tt
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and praoocesl for the period endt
December 31, 2013 (as defined in Rules 13a-15(d)1&15(e) under th
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange JctBased on the
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and ourneipal Financial an
Accounting Officer have concluded that our disclesucontrols ani
procedures are effective to ensure that informatémuired to be disclosed
us in reports that we file or submit under the Exae Act is recorde:
processed, summarized and reported within the fm@eods specified i
Securities and Exchange Commission rules and foramg] that suc
information is accumulated and communicated toroanagement, includir
our principal executive and our principal financidficers, as appropriate
allow timely decisions regarding required discl@sur

Changes in Internal Control

There were no significant changes in our interrmadtiol over financia
reporting during the most recently completed fiscplarter that hav
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenilly affect, our interne
control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangéal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequa
internal control over financial reporting, as suehm is defined in Exchang
Act Rule 13a15(f). Under the supervision and with the partitipa of our
management, including our Principal Executive @fficand Principe
Accounting and Financial Officer, we conducted assessment of tr
effectiveness of our internal control over finahdiaporting based on tt
framework in Internal Control — Integrated Frameworkssued by th
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread@ommission. Base
on our assessment under the frameworkniernal Control —Integrated
Framework (COSO) (1992), our management concluded that otarrial
control over financial reporting was effective ddecember 31, 2013 .

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accagntfirm, has
audited the consolidated financial statements deduin this annual report «
Form 10K and, as a part of this audit, has issued theionteincluded in Iten
8, on the effectiveness of our internal controlrdirgancial reporting.

/sl H. Chris Killingstad

H. Chris Killingstad
President and Chief Executive Officer

/sl Thomas Paulson

Thomas Paulson
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Publidccounting Firm

The attestation report required under this iternastained in Item 8 ¢
this annual report on Form 10-K.

PART Il

ITEM 10 — Directors, Executive Officers and Corporae
Governance

The sections entitled “Board of Directors Infornoati and “Section 16
(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” imr @014Proxy Stateme!
are incorporated herein by reference.

The list below identifies those persons designatedxecutive officers
the Company, including their age, position with tbempany and positio
held by them during the past five or more years.

Thomas J. Dybsky, Senior Vice President, Adminigira

Thomas J. Dybsky (64) joined the Company in Septrni§98 as Vic
President of Human Resources. He was named Vicesiders o
Administration in 2004 and Senior Vice President Administration ir
October 2013. From June 1995 to September 1998,whe Vice
President/Senior Consultant for MDA Consulting.

Andrew J. Eckert, Senior Vice President, The Anaic

Andrew J. Eckert (50) joined the Company in 200Zaseral Manage
North America. He was promoted to Vice Presiderdrthl America Sales
2005, assumed responsibility for North America Saled Service in 2007 &
now serves as Senior Vice President, The Amerieasn 2000 to 2002, |
was the Senior Vice President of Operations ateStst Merchandisit
Company, a national retail merchandising servicetraator for the groce
industry. Prior to that, he was Director of Strageglanning at General Mil
and led the automation and cestiuction efforts for U.S. trade promotic
spending. He began his sales career in 1985 atr@eviédls in Houston, TX
and held a variety of increasing responsibilitiesluding Customer Sal
Manager for Fleming Companies and American Stores.

H. Chris Killingstad, President and Chief Execut@ficer

H. Chris Killingstad (58) joined the Company in Ap2002 as Vic
President, North America and was named PresidehtC&O in 2005. Fro
1990 to 2002, he was employed by The Pillsbury Camgpa consumer foo
manufacturer. From 1999 to 2002 he served as Séficw President ar
General Manager of Frozen Products for PillsburytiNédmerica; from 199
to 1999 he served as Regional Vice President andaiylag Director ¢
Pillsbury Europe, and from 1990 to 1996 was Redidfiae President ¢
Haagenbazs Asia Pacific. He held the position of Inteioral Busines
Development Manager at PepsiCo Inc., from 19820 and Financi
Manager for General Electric, from 1978-1980.

Thomas Paulson, Senior Vice President and Chiefrfeiial Officer

Thomas Paulson (57) joined the Company in March62@8 Vict
President and Chief Financial Officer and was na@edior Vice Preside
and Chief Financial Officer in October 2013. Ptiofjoining Tennant, he w
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice Presideftimovex from 2001 t
2006. Prior to joining Innovex, a manufacturer décéronic interconne
solutions, he worked for The Pillsbury Companyduer 19 years. He beca
a Vice President at Pillsbury in 1995 and was tlee President of Finance
the $4 billion North American Foods Division for evtwo years befo
joining Innovex.



ITEM 9B — Other Information

None.
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Michael W. Schaefer, Senior Vice President, Chiefinical Officer

Michael W. Schaefer (53) joined the Company in 3an2008 as Vic
President, Chief Technical Officer and was namedideVice Presiden
Chief Technical Officer in October 2013. From 2G6QJanuary 2008, he w
Vice President of Dispensing Systems, Lean Six &igmd Quality at Ecola
Inc., a provider of cleaning, sanitizing, food $gfand infection preventic
products and services, where he led R&D effortgtieir equipment busine
continuous improvement and standardization of R&Bcpsses. Prior to th
he held various management positions at Alticor pOmtion and Kra
General Foods.

Don B. Westman, Senior Vice President, Global Ojata

Don B. Westman (60) joined the Company in Novenm2@d6 as Vic
President, Global Operations and was named Seritg Rresident, Glob
Operations in October 2013. Prior to joining Tertn&e was Vice Preside
of Operations -Pump Division for Pentair, Inc., a provider of pusts an
services for the movement, treatment and storagevatér, from 2005 i
November 2006. From 2003 to 2005, he was Vice &easiof Operation—
Pentair Water. From 1997 to 2003, he was Vice Bessiof Operations fi
Hoffmans Enclosures, where he began in 1982 asnafagturing engineerir
manager.

Heidi M. Wilson, Senior Vice President, General @sel and Secretary

Heidi M. Wilson (63) joined the Company in 2003 Assistant Gener
Counsel and Assistant Secretary. She was named Rfiesident, Genel
Counsel and Secretary in 2005 and Senior Vice &ati General Coun:
and Secretary in October 2013. She was a partrter@éneral Counsel Li
during 2003. From 1995 to 2001, she was Vice PessjdGeneral Couns
and Secretary at Musicland Group, Inc. From 1993385, she was Sen
Legal Counsel at Medtronic, Inc. Prior to that, sves a partner at Faegre
Benson L.L.P., a Minneapolis law firm, which shangd in 1976.

Richard H. Zay, Senior Vice President, Global Méirige

Richard H. Zay (43) joined the Company in June 284¥ice Presider
Global Marketing and was named Senior Vice Presjdélobal Marketing i
October 2013. From 2006 to June 2010, he held waripositions wit
Whirlpool Corporation, a manufacturer of major horappliances, mo
recently as General Manager, KitchenAid Brand. FA®83 to 2006, he he
various positions with Maytag Corporation, inclugliice President, Jenkir
Brand, Director of Marketing, Maytag Brand, and dator of Cookin
Category Management.

Business Ethics Guide

We have adopted the Tennant Company Business E@igde, a
amended by the Board of Directors in December 2@hich applies to all
our employees, directors, consultants, agents agdne else acting on ¢
behalf. The Business Ethics Guide includes pasicptovisions applicable
our senior financial management, which includes@hief Executive Office
Chief Financial Officer, Controller and other emy#es performing simil:
functions. A copy of our Business Ethics Guide vaikable on the Invest
Relations page of our website, www.tennantco.card,acopy will be maile
upon request to Investor Relations, Tennant Comp&h®. Box 145:
Minneapolis, MN 5544@452. We intend to post on our website
amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of oussiBess Ethics Guide tt
applies to our Principal Executive Officer, PriralipFinancial Officel
Principal Accounting Officer, Controller and oth@ersons performing simil
functions promptly following the date of such amewemht or waiver. |
addition, we have also posted copies of our CotpoBovernance Principl
and the Charters for our Audit, Compensation, Goaece and Executi
Committees on our website.

ITEM 11 — Executive Compensation

The sections entitled “Director Compensation” andExécutive
Compensation Information” in our 201@roxy Statement are incorporé
herein by reference.

ITEM 12 — Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matte

The sections entitled “Equity Compensation Planodmiation” anc
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownerglavianagementin oui
2014 Proxy Statement are incorporated herein lereate.

ITEM 13 — Certain Relationships and Related Transattons,
and Director Independence

The sections entitled “Director Independence” arRelated Persc
Transaction Approval Policy” in our 201RBroxy Statement are incorpors
herein by reference.

ITEM 14 — Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The section entitled Fees Paid to Independent Registered P

Accounting Firm” in our 2014Proxy Statement is incorporated hereir
reference.

e.
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PART IV
ITEM 15 — Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedulg

A. The following documents are filed as a part of thisort
1. Financial Statement:
Consolidated Financial Statements filed as patthisfreport are contained in Item 8 of this anmegbrt on Form 10-K.
2. Financial Statement Schedul

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Returns:

Balance at beginning of year $ 439¢ $ 482¢ $ 4,311
Charged to costs and expenses 1,27¢ 1,427 1,88¢
Charged to other accourits 102 35 (91)
Deductions? (1,259 (1,892 (1,279
Balance at end of year $ 452¢ $ 439¢ $ 4,82¢
Inventory Reserves:

Balance at beginning of year $ 3,72¢  $ 417: % 3,69¢
Charged to costs and expenses 1,04« 2,17¢ 4,217
Charged to other accourits (88) 2 (102
Deductions® (1,430 (2,625 (3,630
Balance at end of year $ 325 $ 3,72¢ % 4,17:
Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets:

Balance at beginning of year $ 471¢ $ 3,22¢  $ 9,17(¢
Charged to costs and expenses 2,23¢ 687 —
Charged to other accourits 28E 802 (5,947
Balance at end of year $ 724: % 471¢  $ 3,22¢

@ Primarily includes impact from foreign currencydtuations.
@Includes accounts determined to be uncollectibtecrarged against reserves, net of collectionscooumts previously charged against reserves.
®@Includes inventory identified as excess, slow mgwn obsolete and charged against reserves.

@1Includes a valuation allowance decreased in 20Eltduesults of operations and an intercompanyséetion that had no impact on 2011 Net Earn
Other years were primarily the impact from fore@mrency fluctuations.

All other schedules are omitted because they ateamplicable or the required information is shownthie Consolidated Financial Statements or |
thereto.
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Exhibits

Item # Description Method of Filing
2.1 Share Purchase Agreement dated February 15, 2008ggtine Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the @any's Current
Sellers identified therein and Tennant Scotlanditéch(excluding Report on Form 8-K dated February 29, 2008.
schedules and exhibits, which the Company agrefsrish
supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Casion upon
request)
3i Restated Articles of Incorporation Ingorated by reference to Exhibit 3i to the Compamgsm 10-
Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006.
3ii Certificate of Designation Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the @any's Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2006.
3iii Amended and Restated By-Laws Incorpeateby reference to Exhibit 3(iii) to the Compasurren
Report on Form 8-K dated December 14, 2010.
4.1 Rights Agreement, dated as of November 10, 2008;den the Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 to Form 8tated
Company and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Rights Agent November 14, 2006.
10.1 Tennant Company 1995 Stock Incentive Plan* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 te @ompany’s
Registration Statement No. 33-62003, Form S-8,ddate
August 22, 1995.
10.2 Tennant Company Executive Nonqualified Deferred @ensation Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thenPany’s Form
Plan, as restated effective January 1, 2009, agdedé 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2012.
10.3 Form of Amended and Restated Managemergehgent and Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to thenpany's Form
Executive Employment Agreement* 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.
104 Schedule of parties to Management and Executivel@mznt Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to thenpany's Form
Agreement 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.
105 Tennant Company Non-Employee Director IS@ption Plan (as Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to thenPany’s Form
amended and restated effective May 6, 2004)* 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004.
10.6 Tennant Company Amended and Restated 1999 Stoehtiue Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Canyis Proxy
Plan* Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Sharehsléied on
March 15, 2006.
10.7 Long-Term Incentive Plan 2008* Incated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Compafgem
10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008.
10.8 Tennant Company 2007 Stock Incentive Plan* Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Camys Proxy
Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Sharehsléiked on
March 15, 2007.
10.9 Credit Agreement dated as of May 5, 2011 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to@wnpany's Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011.
10.10 Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement dated April 2613 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thenpany's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 25, 2013.
10.11 Deferred Stock Unit Agreement (awardarid after 2008)* Incorporated by referencexbikit 10.17 to the Company’s Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.
10.12 Tennant Company 2009 Short-Term Incentive Plan* Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Camys Proxy
Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Sharehsléied on
March 14, 2008.
10.13 Tennant Company 2014 Short-Term Incentive Plan* Incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Canmys Proxy
Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Sharehsléied on
March 11, 2013.
10.14 Private Shelf Agreement dated as of July 29, 2009 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thenPany's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on July 30, 2009.
10.15 Amendment No. 1 to Private Shelf Agreendaited as of May 5, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thenpany's Form
2011 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011.
10.16 Amendment No. 2 to Private Shelf Agreement dateof dslly 24, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thenPany's Current
2012 Report on Form 8-K filed on July 26, 2012.
10.17 Amended and Restated 2010 Stock InceRtae, as Amended* Incorporated by referencgpjeendix A to the Company's Proxy
Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Sharehsléied on
March 11, 2013.
21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed herewith electronically.
23.1 Consent of KPMG, LLP Independent Registé&reblic Accounting Filed herewith electronically.
Firm
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Extive Officer Filed herewith electronically.
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CertificatiorChfief Financial Officer Filed herewith electrcally.
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32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Oéfic Filed herewith electronically.
32.2 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Fineh©fficer Filed herewith electronically.
101 The following financial information from Tennant @pany’s Filed herewith electronically.

annual report on Form 10-K for the period endeddbauer 31,
2013, filed with the SEC on February 28, 2014, fatted in
Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL)th@
Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the yeaiee
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, (ii) the Conatalitl
Statements of Comprehensive Income for the yeatscen
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, (iii) the Codatdid Balance
Sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, (iv) tmsdidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Desredih 2013,
2012 and 2011, (v) the Consolidated Statementhafeholders'
Equity for the years ended December 31, 2013, 28@2011, an
(vi) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

* Management contract or compensatory plan or gearent required to be filed as an exhibit to timisuaml report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report to be signedson it
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrize

TENNANT COMPANY

By

Date

/sl H. Chris Killingstad

H. Chris Killingstad

President, CEO and

Board of Directors
February 28, 2014

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this repas been signed by the following persons on lhehal
of the Registrant and in the capacities and or#ttes indicated.

By

Date

By

Date

By

Date

By

Date

By

Date

By

Date

/sl H. Chris Killingstad

H. Chris Killingstad
President, CEO and
Board of Directors

February 28, 2014

/s/ Thomas Paulson

Thomas Paulson

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
February 28, 2014

/sl Azita Arvani

Azita Arvani
Board of Directors
February 28, 2014

/s/ William F. Austen

William F. Austen
Board of Directors
February 28, 2014

/sl Carol S. Eicher

Carol S. Eicher
Board of Directors
February 28, 2014

/s/ James T. Hale

James T. Hale
Board of Directors
February 28, 2014

By

Date

By

Date

By

Date

By

Date

By

Date
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/s/ David Mathieson

David Mathiaso
Board of Directors
February 28, 2014

/s/ Donal L. Mulligan

Donal L. Mulligan
Board of Directors
February 28, 2014

/sl Stephen G. Shank

Stephen G. Shank
Board of Directors
Februan20&4

/sl Steven A. Sonnenberg

Steven A. Sonnerth
Board of Directors
Februan20&4

/s/ David S. Wichmann

David S. Wichmann
Board of Directors
Februan20&4



Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Subsidiary
Applied Kehmaschinen GmbH

Applied Sweepers Group Leasing (U.K.)
Applied Sweepers Holdings. Limited

Applied Sweepers International Limited
Floorep Limited

Hofmans Machinefabriek

Nobles Floor Machines Limited
Recumbrimientos Tennant, S. de R.L. de C.V.
Servicios Integrados Tennant, S.A. de C.V.
Sociedade Alfa Ltda.

Tennant Asia Pacific Holdings Private Ltd.
Tennant Australia Pty Limited

Tennant B.V.

Tennant CAD Holdings LLC

Tennant Cleaning Systems and Equipment (Shangloaj)L@l.
Tennant Cleaning Systems India Private Limited
Tennant Company

Tennant Company Far East Headquarters PTE LTD
Tennant Europe B.V.

Tennant Europe N.V.

Tennant S.A.

Tennant GmbH & Co. KG

Tennant Holding B.V.

Tennant Holdings LLC

Tennant International Holding B.V.

Tennant N.V.

Tennant Netherland Holding B.V.

Tennant New Zealand Ltd.

Tennant Portugal E. de L., S.U., L. da
Tennant SA Holdings LLC

Tennant Sales & Service Canada ULC
Tennant Sales and Service Company
Tennant Sales and Service Spain, S.A.
Tennant Scotland Limited

Tennant Sverige AB

Tennant UK Cleaning Solutions Limited
Tennant UK Limited

Tennant Uruguay S.A.

Tennant Ventas & Servicios de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
Tennant Verwaltungs-gesellschaft GmbH
TNC CV

Walter-Broadley Machines Limited
Walter-Broadley Limited

Water Star, Inc.

Exhibit 21

Jurisdiction of Organization

Federal Republic of Germany
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

Netherlands
United Kingdom
United Mexican States
United Mexican States
Federative Republic of Brazil
Republic of Singapore
Australia
Netherlands
Minnesota
People’s Republic of China
Republic of India
Minnesota
Republic of Singapore
Netherlands
Belgium
French Republic
Federal Republic of Germany
Netherlands
Minnesota
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
New Zealand
Portuguese Republic
Minnesota
British Columbia, Canada
Minnesota
Kingdom of Spain
United Kingdom
Kingdom of Sweden
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Eastern Republic of Uruguay
United Mexican States
Federal Republic of Germany
Netherlands
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Ohio



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Tennant Company:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrdwstration statements (Nos. 33-62003, 333-288338;73706, 333-51531, 3357708
333-142581, 333-80589, 333-181203, 333-188151,83@32, 333-114884, and 333-166342) on Form S-§ldnd333-184655) on Form 3-
of Tennant Company of our report dated February2ft84, with respect to the consolidated balancestshef Tennant Company as
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related cdasetl statements of earnings, comprehensive incoasé, flows, and shareholdeegjuity
for each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2013, and the defetancial statement schedule, and the effectiverm
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2013, which report appears in the DeceBthe2013 annual report on Form KO-
of Tennant Company.

/sl KPMG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 28, 2014



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, H. Chris Killingstad, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on FornKléF Tennant Compan

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ader financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’ other certifying officers and | are responsilie dstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedurks tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtsubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@porting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodimand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtinis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contral$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyetlis report based
such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the stegits internal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrdts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5. The registrang’ other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdx on our most recent evaluation of internalrobmiver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaemmmittee of the registrarstboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknedsethe design or operation of internal contra¢iofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refgmahcial informatior
and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ineslymanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registraist’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2014 /sl H. Chris Killingstad

H. Chris Killingstad
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Thomas Paulson, certify that:

1.

2.

Date:

I have reviewed this annual report on FornKléF Tennant Compan

Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ader financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrant’ other certifying officers and | are responsilie dstablishing and maintaining disclosure contemid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a)

b)

c)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedurks tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtsubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@porting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodimand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtinis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contial$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyetlis report based
such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the stegits internal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrdts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

The registrang’ other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdx on our most recent evaluation of internalrobmiver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaemmmittee of the registrarstboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknedsethe design or operation of internal contra¢iofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refgmahcial informatior
and

any fraud, whether or not material, that ineslymanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registraist’
internal control over financial reporting.

February 28, 2014 /sl Thomas Paulson

Thomas Paulson
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Tennant @any (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the perioddled December 31, 20X filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), H. Chris Killingstad, President and Chief ExaeetOfficer
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, aptetbpursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxbeyf 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; an
(2) The information contained in this periodic repairlfy presents, in all material respects, the foiahcondition and results

operations of the Company.

February 28, 2014 /sl H. Chris Killingstad
H. Chris Killingstad
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date:




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Tennant @any (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the perioddled December 31, 20X filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), Thomas Paulson, Senior Vice President and Gfirgincia
Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section @3&s adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sask@nxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; an
(2) The information contained in this periodic repairlfy presents, in all material respects, the foiahcondition and results
operations of the Company.

Date: February 28, 2014 /s/ Thomas Paulson
Thomas Paulson
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




